






































































































FARES FOR WARM 
SPRINGS/SOUTH FREMONT 


BART STATION


BART Board of Directors
July 23, 2015







Warm Springs/South Fremont Station Fares 
Recap


• New Warm Springs/South Fremont Station 
opening in December 2015


• Distance‐based fares to be charged, all 
existing discounts given


• Title VI report approved by Board on May 14, 
2015


• Public hearing held on June 25, 2015


2







Sample Fares


3


Fremont 
Station


Fare 
Increment Opening Dec 2015


Proposed eff Jan 
2016 (CPI increase)


Regular Fares
Downtown Berkeley $4.60 $0.40 $5.00 $5.15


Embarcadero $5.95 $0.40 $6.35 $6.60


MacArthur $4.35 $0.45 $4.80 $4.95


Pittsburg/Bay Point $6.80 $0.45 $7.25 $7.45


Richmond $5.15 $0.45 $5.60 $5.75


Walnut Creek $5.60 $0.40 $6.00 $6.20


62.5% Discount Fares
Downtown Berkeley $1.70 $0.15 $1.85 $1.90


Embarcadero $2.20 $0.15 $2.35 $2.45


MacArthur $1.60 $0.20 $1.80 $1.85


Pittsburg/Bay Point $2.55 $0.15 $2.70 $2.75


Richmond $1.90 $0.20 $2.10 $2.15


Walnut Creek $2.10 $0.15 $2.25 $2.30


Warm Springs/ South Fremont







Approval of Warm Springs/South Fremont 
Station Fares


• Today, Board asked to approve fares for new 
Warm Springs/South Fremont Station, two‐
thirds vote required


4








2016 Inflation‐Based Fare 
Increase: Title VI Report


BART Board of Directors
July 23, 2015







Inflation‐Based Fare Increase Program


• Program extended for increases in 2014, 2016, 
2018, and 2020
– Fare increase revenue goes only to fund highest 
priority capital needs


• 3.4% increase, scheduled for January 1, 2016
– Estimated to generate approximately $15M annually
– OAK fare, per Board resolution, remains at $6.00


• Before each increase, Board to approve Title VI 
report


2







Fare Change Analysis
• Fare change percentages for protected and non‐protected 


riders are calculated and compared


• Minority Disparate Impact Analysis
– Minority riders:  +3.49%
– Non‐minority riders:  +3.47%


• Low‐Income Disproportionate Burden Analysis
– Low income riders: +3.50%
– Non‐Low Income riders: +3.48%


• No disproportionate impacts, differences below 5% DI/DB 
Policy threshold


3







Public Outreach


• Print and online survey available in multiple 
languages; comments also received via e‐mail and 
phone


• Outreach events included Cinco de Mayo festival, 
Town Hall, and community‐based organization 
meetings


• Title VI/Environmental Justice Advisory Committee 
and Limited English Proficiency Advisory Committee 
meetings


4







Public Comments
• 485 surveys and 49 e‐mail/phone comments received


– More support shown by significantly more protected print survey respondents, many 
of whom attended BART outreach events where staff explained fare increase revenue 
goes only to capital projects  


• Sample rider comments include:
– “It’s a reasonable increase for the items listed.”  Online survey minority respondent
– ”No more increase to fare we are low income families.”  Print survey minority and 


low‐income respondent


5


In Support Fare Increase 61 11.4%
Not In Support Fare Increase 119 22.3%
Comments on Other Subjects 155 29.0%


No Comments Provided 199 37.3%
Total 534 100.0%


Respondents 
(Survey & E‐
mail/Phone) % of Total







Advisory Committee Comments


• Committee members generally supportive, based 
on understanding resulting revenue dedicated to 
funding critical capital needs 
– While acknowledging the assessment’s conclusions of no 
disproportionate impacts, some members commented 
that any fare increase, however small, may be of concern 
to some low‐income riders


6







Board Motion


• Title VI assessment finds no disproportionate 
impacts on protected riders


• Board asked to approve Title VI report, which 
authorizes implementation of 2016 fare 
increase


7








Human Resources Modernization 
Initiatives Update


BART Board of Directors
July 23, 2015 







Talent Management Strategy


Safety/
Wellness
Culture


Employee
Engagement


Skills‐Based
Training


Performance
Management


Knowledge
Transfer


Career
Services


Outreach/
Selection


Workforce 
Needs 
Analysis


Retain


DevelopEmpower


Recruit


Talent
Management


1







New Hires Promotions/Laterals Totals
FY 14 241 122 363
FY 15 272 159 431


0


50


100


150


200


250


300


350


400


450


500


# 
of
 E
m
pl
oy
ee
s


Recruitment Progress Report


19%


Recruitment
Progress Report 


30%


13%


2







Not Eligible to 
Retire, 1902 


(56%)
Eligible to Retire 
(Supv/Mgrs.), 238


(7%)


Eligible to Retire 
(All others), 1252 


(37%)


BART Workforce Profile 
Current Retirement Eligibility: 44%


BART Workforce Profile 
Current Retirement Eligibility: 44%


BART Retirement 
Eligibility
50 years of age + 
5 years of BART 
service


BART Retirement 
Eligibility
50 years of age + 
5 years of BART 
service


Total Number of Employees = 3392 
(As of June 30, 2015)


Total Number of Employees = 3392 
(As of June 30, 2015) 3







59


29


69
58


18


10


18 38


Electrician Elevator/Escalator Worker Train Control Electronic Tech Transit Vehicle Electronic Tech


5‐Year Retirement Projections 
for Hard to Fill Positions


Remaining Workforce Projected Retirements


23% 
Projected 
to Retire


26% 
Projected
to Retire


21% 
Projected 
to Retire


40%
Projected 
to Retire


Note:  Data based on total current employee population and  5 year trends; Overall, average retirement occurs at age 
60 with 21 years of service.


Recruitment
Hard to Fill Positions 


4







Transit Vehicle Electronic Technician (TVET) Upgrade 
Program (Partnership with SEIU and RS&S)


•40% of current TVET’s are eligible to retire


• Involves certification and on‐the‐job training to qualify


•Provides opportunity to existing Utility Workers 
incumbents to promote


Recruitment
Streamlining the Process / Targeted Initiatives


5







Recruitment
Establish Partnerships/Outreach


Recruitment
Establish Partnerships/Outreach


Outreach


Community 
Partnerships


Internal 
Department 
Partnerships


Job  Fairs


Educational 
Institutions


Sourcing


Government 
Partnerships


Professional 
Conferences & 
Networking


Advertisement 
& Social 
Media


6







Talent Management: Retain 


 Internal Promotions


 Classification Study for AFSCME


 Wellness Program 


 Non‐Represented Employee Handbook Update


 Internal Promotions


 Classification Study for AFSCME


 Wellness Program 


 Non‐Represented Employee Handbook Update


7







Talent Management: DevelopTalent Management: Develop


Enhanced Performance Review Tool 


Added a Customer Service 
(Internal and External) Dimension


Added a 
Development/Succession 


Planning Dimension


Added Accountability to the 
Ownership Dimension 


Performance Management Training


‐Provided performance management training for all managers/supervisors
‐Provided enhanced supervisor/manager trainings in partnership with Liberty Cassidy Whitmore 
LLC.


88







Talent Management: Empower
Career Services


Succession Planning 


Talent Management: Empower
Career Services


Succession Planning 


Aspiring 
Supervisory Team 


Lead
New Supervisor  Existing 


Supervisor/Manager


• Transit/Para Transit 
Certification Program


• Temporary Upgrade 
Opportunity


• Fore‐worker Nuts and 
Bolts Training


• Public Speaking
• Building Internal 
Customer Service


• Transit/Para Transit 
Certification Program


• Temporary Upgrade 
Opportunity


• Fore‐worker Nuts and 
Bolts Training


• Public Speaking
• Building Internal 
Customer Service


Mission: To focus on building current bench strength, prepare future leaders and develop employee talent for 
future opportunities 


Mission: To focus on building current bench strength, prepare future leaders and develop employee talent for 
future opportunities 


CURRENT DEVELOPMENTAL LADDERCURRENT DEVELOPMENTAL LADDER


• Nuts and Bolts  
Supervisory 
Training Part I


• Mineta Institute 
Certification 
Program


• Temporary Upgrade  
Opportunities


• Nuts and Bolts  
Supervisory 
Training Part I


• Mineta Institute 
Certification 
Program


• Temporary Upgrade  
Opportunities


• Building Blocks for 
Supervisors Training 
Part II


• Mineta Institute 
Masters Program


• Temporary Upgrade 
Opportunities


• Building Blocks for 
Supervisors Training 
Part II


• Mineta Institute 
Masters Program


• Temporary Upgrade 
Opportunities


• APTA Leadership 
(as identified by 
Executives)


• Leadership 
Program‐
Research and 
development in 
progress


• APTA Leadership 
(as identified by 
Executives)


• Leadership 
Program‐
Research and 
development in 
progress


Leadership


99







FY 16‐17 Goals


Talent Management Strategy


 Recruit: Expand Outreach; Increase diversity in technical positions; Targeted plans for 
hard to fill technical classes


 Develop: Launch a Leadership Development program; Improve performance 
evaluation process/participation


 Retain: Conduct Employee Satisfaction Survey; Update Compensation Manual; Expand 
Wellness program


 Empower: Finalize 5 year Succession Plan that identifies critical positions to be filled, 
and a plan to meet these demands with both internal and external candidates


Policy and Procedure Updates


10








220-4171


Interviews Conducted:
June 8-14, 2015


Support for a BART 
Infrastructure Finance 
Measure: 
A Survey of District Voters


BART Marketing and Research Department







1


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


Methodology


 Telephone survey of 931 randomly selected likely November 2016 
voters
– 310 surveys each in Alameda, Contra Costa and San Francisco 


counties
– Results were then weighted back to their natural proportions
– Survey was conducted June 8-14, 2015 in English, Spanish and 


Chinese via landline and cell
 The margin of sampling error is +/-3.7% at the 95% confidence 


level for the total sample
– County margins of error are +/-5.7%
– Margins of error for population subgroups will be higher


 Due to rounding, some percentages do not sum to 100%
 Comparisons to 2014 and 2013 surveys







2


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


BART is viewed favorably compared 
to other local transit agencies.


* June 2015
** September 2014


62%


52%


46%


22%


15%


26%


11%


11%


45%30%15%0%15%30%45%60%75%


Total Fav. Total Unfav.


BART, or the Bay Area Rapid 
Transit system*


(San Francisco County Voters Only) 
San Francisco Muni**


(Alameda and Contra Costa County Voters Only)
AC Transit**


The Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission, also known as 


MTC**


Favorable 
impressions 


have dropped 
6% since 


September 
2014.







3


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


25%


23%


21%


17%


42%


40%


46%


42%


10%


9%


9%


12%


13%


15%


10%


17%


10%


13%


13%


11%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


June 2015


 Sept. 2014


 May 2013


 April 2011


Great Need Some Need A Little Need No Real Need DK/NA


Would you say that BART has a great need for additional funding, some 
need, a little need, or no real need for additional funding?


Q5 Tracking. 


Great/
Some 
Need


Little/No 
Need/
DK/NA


67% 33%


63% 37%


67% 32%


59% 40%


However, two-thirds of voters believe BART 
has an appreciable need for additional funding.







4


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


Have you heard, read or seen anything recently about 
weekend closures of sections of BART for track repair? 


Yes, a great 
deal
31%


Yes, a little
35%


No
34%


Two-thirds have heard something about 
BART’s weekend closures for repairs.


Q7.


Total 
Yes
66%







5


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


Ballot Language Tested


Q3. If there were an election today, do you think you would vote “yes” in favor of this measure or “no” to oppose it? Split Sample


BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief Measure


(MORE GENERAL)
In order to replace and modernize BART’s deteriorating 44-year old infrastructure to
keep BART safe; prevent breakdowns and delays; improve earthquake safety;
increase the number of people BART can carry; relieve traffic congestion; improve
access for people with disabilities; reduce overcrowding; reduce pollution; and keep
trains and stations clean; shall the Bay Area Rapid Transit District issue ($3
billion/$1.5 billion) of bonds subject to citizen oversight and independent, annual
audits?


(MORE SPECIFIC)
In order to replace and modernize deteriorating BART tracks, speed control
equipment, and other aging infrastructure to keep BART safe; prevent breakdowns
and delays; improve earthquake safety; increase the number of people BART can
carry; relieve traffic congestion; improve access for people with disabilities; reduce
overcrowding; reduce pollution; and keep trains and stations clean; shall the Bay
Area Rapid Transit District issue ($3 billion/$1.5 billion) dollars of bonds subject to
citizen oversight and independent, annual audits?







6


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


35%


34%


31%


32%


6%


8%


13%


13%


14%


13%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


General


Specific


Def. Yes Prob./Undec. Lean Yes Undecided Prob./Undec. Lean No Def. No


Overall support was about two-thirds, with little 
difference between general and specific versions.


Q3. Split Sample


Total 
Yes


Total 
No


67% 28%


66% 26%


If there were an election today, do you think you would 
vote “yes” in favor of this measure or “no” to oppose it? 







7


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


34%


36%


33%


30%


5%


9%


14%


13%


15%


12%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


$3 Billion Bond


$1.5 Billion Bond


Def. Yes Prob./Undec. Lean Yes Undecided Prob./Undec. Lean No Def. No


…and no difference between 
the $3 and $1.5 billion amounts.


Q3. Split Sample


Total 
Yes


Total 
No


67% 29%


66% 25%


If there were an election today, do you think you would 
vote “yes” in favor of this measure or “no” to oppose it? 







8


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


35%


42%


45%


41%


29%


25%


32%


30%


34%


35%


32%


25%


8%


5%


7%


9%


18%


9%


9%


9%


15%


17%


6%


15%


7%


9%


16%


24%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


5+ Days a Week


3-4 Times per Week


1-2 Times per Week


1-3 Times per Month


Less Than Once per Month


Never


Def. Yes Prob./Undec. Lean Yes Undecided Prob./Undec. Lean No Def. No


Q3. If there were an election today, do you think you would vote “yes” in favor of this measure or “no” to oppose it?  


Total 
Yes


Total 
No


68% 24%


73% 24%


79% 16%


77% 18%


61% 31%


50% 41%


Initial Vote by BART Ridership


Support is greatest among BART riders, though 
somewhat softer among daily commuters.


These two groups 
represent 49% of 


the electorate.







9


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


Q3. If there were an election today, do you think you would vote “yes” in favor of this measure or “no” to oppose it?  


Initial Vote by BART District


Solid majorities of voters support a 
bond measure in all nine BART districts.


D2 
62%


D3 
72%


D4 
65%


D5 
58%


D6 
67%


D7 
61%


D8 
65%


D1 
61%


D9 
81%


D1: Murray
D2: Keller
D3: Saltzman
D4: Raburn
D5: McPartland
D6: Blalock
D7: Mallett
D8: Josefowitz
D9: Radulovich


(Margins of sampling 
error range from 


8%-12% for results 
at the District level)







10


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


33%


30%


43%


34%


30%


31%


6%


6%


8%


13%


16%


10%


15%


17%


8%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Alameda


Contra Costa


San Francisco


Def. Yes Prob./Undec. Lean Yes Undecided Prob./Undec. Lean No Def. No


Q3. If there were an election today, do you think you would vote “yes” in favor of this measure or “no” to oppose it?  


Total 
Yes


Total 
No


66% 27%


60% 34%


74% 19%


Initial Vote by County


Voters in San Francisco County are most 
supportive in aggregate and intensity.







11


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


62%


31%


12%


29%


44%


17%


6%


7%


12%


24%


7%


39%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Great Need


Some Need


Little/No Real Need


Def. Yes Prob./Undec. Lean Yes Undecided Prob./Undec. Lean No Def. No


Q3. If there were an election today, do you think you would vote “yes” in favor of this measure or “no” to oppose it?  


Total 
Yes


Total 
No


91% 6%


74% 20%


29% 63%


Initial Vote by Perceived Need for Additional Funding


Not surprisingly, support tracks closely 
with BART’s perceived funding needs.







12


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


41%


37%


42%


38%


32%


39%


38%


44%


46%


40%


42%


47%


38%


38%


11%


13%


13%


14%


15%


17%


18%


5%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Maintaining BART’s safe track record of 
preventing train accidents


^Relieving Bay Area traffic congestion


Replacing 90 miles of rails that have been 
severely worn down over 44 years of use


Repairing tunnel walls damaged by 
water intrusion


Preventing breakdowns and delays


Replacing and upgrading deteriorating
44-year old equipment that controls 


train speeds


Replacing eroded piping that protects 
electrical power lines


Ext Impt. Very Impt. Smwt. Impt. Not Too Impt. DK/NA


Voters’ top spending priorities focus on safety 
and traffic, but also specific types of repairs.


Q8. I am going to read you a list of some specific projects that this measure might fund.  For each one, please tell me how important it is to you 
that that type of project be funded:  extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too important. ^Not Part of Split Sample


Ext./Very 
Impt.
85%


83%


82%


80%


79%


77%


76%







13


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


34%


32%


36%


34%


34%


36%


35%


42%


44%


38%


39%


40%


38%


36%


20%


18%


18%


19%


19%


19%


22%


5%


5%


6%


5%


6%


6%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Increasing the number of people BART 
can take off the roads


Accomodating increased population and 
jobs in the Bay Area


*Making earthquake safety improvements 
to the tunnel running under the


Berkeley Hills


^Modernizing a deteriorating, 44-year old 
infrastructure


^Making additional earthquake safety 
improvements


Improving security to prevent theft and 
violent crime at BART stations


Protecting the personal safety of riders by 
improving lighting in stations and


parking lots


Ext Impt. Very Impt. Smwt. Impt. Not Too Impt. DK/NA


Voters also want to see money spent increasing 
capacity and improving personal security.


Q8. I am going to read you a list of some specific projects that this measure might fund.  For each one, please tell me how important it is to you 
that that type of project be funded:  extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too important. *Asked of Alameda & 
Contra Costa Counties Only ^Not Part of Split Sample


Ext./Very 
Impt.
76%


76%


74%


74%


74%


73%


71%







14


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


31%


29%


26%


26%


25%


30%


23%


22%


39%


40%


43%


42%


43%


37%


43%


44%


22%


22%


24%


27%


22%


22%


24%


29%


5%


7%


8%


9%


8%


5%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Improving access for people with 
disabilities


Protecting the personal safety of riders by 
installing cameras in stations and


parking lots
Accomodating an expected 75% increase 


in ridership over the next 25 years


Keeping trains clean and comfortable


Running trains more frequently to reduce 
train crowding


Reducing pollution


Increasing the number of people BART 
can carry


Keeping stations clean and comfortable


Ext Impt. Very Impt. Smwt. Impt. Not Too Impt. DK/NA


Two-thirds also prioritize access improvements, 
reducing pollution, and keeping things clean.


Q8. I am going to read you a list of some specific projects that this measure might fund.  For each one, please tell me how important it is to you 
that that type of project be funded:  extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too important. ^Not Part of Split Sample


Ext./Very 
Impt.
70%


69%


69%


68%


68%


67%


67%


66%







15


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


24%


26%


24%


26%


23%


18%


19%


41%


35%


34%


30%


31%


30%


29%


24%


28%


27%


28%


30%


35%


30%


7%


8%


12%


12%


15%


15%


17% 6%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Increasing energy efficiency


Running trains more frequently


^Building new stations to extend BART in 
Alameda, Contra Costa, or San Francisco 


counties


^Powering BART with 100% renewable energy


Replacing old escalators and elevators


Installing more reliable escalators and elevators


^Starting to plan for a second underwater BART 
line to increase how many riders BART can take 


between San Francisco and the East Bay


Ext Impt. Very Impt. Smwt. Impt. Not Too Impt. DK/NA


System extensions, escalators, renewable energy, 
and a 2nd Transbay tube are lower priorities. 


Q8. I am going to read you a list of some specific projects that this measure might fund.  For each one, please tell me how important it is to you 
that that type of project be funded:  extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too important. ^Not Part of Split Sample


Ext./Very 
Impt.
65%


61%


58%


56%


54%


49%


47%







16


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


Combining the results, support exceed 
two-thirds after pro and con arguments.


Q3, Q11 & Q13 Total.


66%
73% 69%


27% 23% 26%


7% 4% 4%
0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


Initial Vote Vote After Positives Vote After Negatives


Total Yes


Total No


Undecided


(Total Sample)







17


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


Identifying “Swing” Voters


Targets


Demographic Groups Most 
Likely to be Swing Voters


21% of the Electorate
African-Americans 


Ride BART 5+/Week 
Latinos 


Ages 30-39 
Never Ride BART


Ages 75+ 
BART District 7 
Voters of Color 


Democrats Ages 18-49 
BART District 4 
Republican Men 
Not Homeowners 


Democratic Women 
Independent Women 


BART District 8 


More than one in five voters (21%) qualify as 
“swing” voters – consistently undecided on a 
BART finance measure, or switching 
positions as they hear pro and con 
arguments. The subgroups most likely to be 
swing voters are profiled to the right.


Top spending priorities for this group include:


• Keeping BART safe, secure and clean
• Reducing traffic congestion
• Improving access for the disabled
• Keeping BART running well and on-time
• Replacing or repairing aging 


infrastructure, such as tunnel walls 
damaged by water intrusion.


More than one in five voters (21%) qualify as 
“swing” voters – consistently undecided on a 
BART finance measure, or switching 
positions as they hear pro and con 
arguments. The subgroups most likely to be 
swing voters are profiled to the right.


Top spending priorities for this group include:


• Keeping BART safe, secure and clean
• Reducing traffic congestion
• Improving access for the disabled
• Keeping BART running well and on-time
• Replacing or repairing aging 


infrastructure, such as tunnel walls 
damaged by water intrusion.







18


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


51%


47%


47%


32%


35%


35%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Very Conv. Smwt. Conv.


84%


82%


82%


(EXAMPLE REPAIRS) This measure is needed to repair and replace 
many critical parts of BART's infrastructure that have deteriorated and 


become outdated over the past 44 years.  This includes 90 miles of 
original rails that have been severely worn down, tunnel walls damaged 


by water intrusion, eroded piping that protects electrical power lines, 
and deteriorating signals that control train speeds.


^(TRAFFIC) BART is essential to keeping the Bay Area moving and 
preventing gridlock on our freeways.   This measure will strengthen the 


BART system and help keep traffic from getting worse — for all of us.


(ENVIRONMENT) BART plays a critical role in keeping our environment 
clean and healthy.  Each day, the BART system helps keep hundreds of 


thousands of cars off our roads and freeways, avoiding nearly 
5 million pounds of carbon pollution and other toxic emissions that 


would contaminate our land, air and water.


Again, messages about safety 
and traffic are convincing.


Q10. I am going to read you some statements from people who support this measure.  Please tell me whether you find it very convincing, 
somewhat convincing, or not convincing as a reason to support such a measure.  If you do not believe the statement, please tell me that too. 
^Not Part of Split Sample







19


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


47%


45%


44%


32%


34%


39%


0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Very Conv. Smwt. Conv.


79%


83%


80%


(DEMAND - OVERALL) More people are riding BART every day. 
In fact, BART ridership is projected to increase 75% over the next 25 
years.  We need this measure to upgrade BART’s infrastructure, run 


more train cars, and reduce overcrowding.


^(CAR METAPHOR) You can regularly maintain your car by changing 
its oil and filters, but eventually it will need major work done, like new 


brakes and suspension.  BART is no different.  It’s been maintained and 
repaired for 44 years, but we now need this measure to replace major 


portions of its infrastructure that we can’t go on just repairing.


(SAFETY - TRAINS) BART has no higher responsibility than keeping its 
riders safe, and this measure will make important improvements to 


BART safety.  It will fund additional earthquake safety improvements, 
and upgrade aging and deteriorating tracks and train controls to protect 


against accidents and collisions.


Q10. I am going to read you some statements from people who support this measure.  Please tell me whether you find it very convincing, 
somewhat convincing, or not convincing as a reason to support such a measure.  If you do not believe the statement, please tell me that too. 
^Not Part of Split Sample


Highlighting future system demand and 
comparing BART and car repairs are also 


compelling.







20


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


52%


49%


44%


44%


43%


42%


42%


41%


28%


32%


31%


31%


23%


33%


31%


34%
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%


Ensuring that funding cannot be taken by
the State


Subjecting all expenditures to annual
audit


Subjecting all expenditures to review by
an independent oversight committee
Ensuring that all funding is controlled


locally
Providing no money for administrative


salaries and benefits
Subjecting all expenditures to review by a


citizen oversight committee
Publishing all expenditure and


progress reports online
Subjecting all expenditures to


independent audit


Much More Lkly. Smwt. More Lkly.


80%


A number of potential accountability provisions 
are popular, particularly protecting funds from 


the State and annual audits.


Q9. The details of this potential measure have not been finalized.  Please tell me whether including each of the following elements would make 
you more likely or less likely to support this measure. Split Sample


75%


73%


75%


65%


75%


75%


81%







21


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


79%


68%


64%


63%


62%


56%


49%


48%


45%


10%


11%


17%


17%


25%


17%


31%


37%


28%


60%40%20%0%20%40%60%80%


BART riders


Licensed safety engineers


Local small businesses


Licensed transportation engineers


BART maintenance workers


The League of Women Voters of the Bay Area


Your local chamber of commerce


Your local city council


The Sierra Club


Total Trust Total Suspicious Trust a 
Great Deal


40%


35%


19%


27%


28%


23%


14%


14%


18%


Most trusted people and organizations 
include BART riders.


Q14. Here is a list of people and organizations that may take a position on the BART measure we have been discussing.  Please tell me if you 
would generally trust each person or organization’s opinion about the measure, or if you would be suspicious of it. If you have never heard of 
the person or organization, or do not have an opinion, you can tell me that too. ^Not Part of a Split Sample







22


DRAFT WORK PRODUCT


Conclusions


 A potential 2016 bond measure generating funding for BART 
– either at the $3 billion or $1.5 billion aggregate level –
continues to appear viable and close to the two-thirds 
threshold for passage.


 Voters highly value the role BART plays in reducing traffic 
congestion and are willing to support a measure enabling 
BART to continue doing so in the future.


 Additionally, they want to see BART maintain its good safety 
track record, and are particularly moved by specific 
examples and necessary repairs.


 Voters also want assurances that funds will be protected 
from the State, and that all spending will be transparent and 
subject to external oversight.







For more information, contact:


1999 Harrison St., Suite 2020
Oakland, CA 94612


Phone (510) 451-9521
Fax (510) 451-0384 


Dave@FM3research.com Curt@FM3research.com








Proposed Revisions 
July 10, 2015 


 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA 


RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


RULES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 
 
 


Adopted by the Board of Directors 
June 11, 1964 


 
 
 


Last revision: June 23, 2011 
Office of the District Secretary 







 


i 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Rules of the Board of Directors 


 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 


 Page 
CHAPTER I GENERAL PROVISIONS 


 
Section 1 Policy 
 1-1.1 Board of Directors............………………………………………………. I- 1 
 1-1.2 Rules………..………………………………………………………….… I- 1 


 
CHAPTER II OFFICERS AND DUTIES 


 
Section 1 Officers 
 2-1.1 Officers…….…………………………………………………………….. II- 1 
 2-1.2 Election of Officers……………………………………………………... II- 1 
 2-1.3 Terms of Office………….…………………………………………….… II- 1 
 2-1.4 Vacancies……………………………………………………………..… II- 1 
 2-1.5 Rotation of Offices……………………………………………………… II- 1 
 
Section 2 Duties 
 2-2.1 President………………………………………………………………… II- 2 
 2-2.2 Vice President…………………………………………………………… II- 3 


CHAPTER III BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES 
  
Section 1 Requirements for Board and Committee Meetings 
 3-1.1 Definition of Meeting…………………………………………………… III- 1 
 3-1.2 Notice of Regular Meeting……………………………………………… III- 2 
 3-1.3 Place of Meeting………………………………………………………… III- 2 
 3-1.4 Meeting Start Times…………………………………………………… III- 3 
 3-1.5 Special Meeting………………………………………………………… III- 3 
 3-1.6 Citizens' Comments………………………………………………………III- 4 
 3-1.7 Staff Report Prior to Public Hearings before the Board…………… III- 5 
 3-1.8 Consideration of Non-Agenda Items at a Meeting…………………… III- 5 
 
Section 2 Board Meetings 
 3-2.1 Regular Meetings…………………………………………………………III- 6 
 3-2.2 Evening Meetings……………………………………………………… III- 6 
 3-2.3 Closed Sessions………………………………………………………… III- 7 
 3-2.4 Special Emergency Meeting…………………………………………… III- 9 
 3-2.5 Cancellation of Meetings……………………………………………… III-10 







BOARD RULES TABLE OF CONTENTS 


 ii 


Section 2 Board Meetings (continued) 
 3-2.6 Minutes: Recording, Reading and Approval………………………… III-11 
 3-2.7 Acts of the Board……………………………………………………… III-11 
 3-2.8 Parliamentary Procedure ……………………………………………… III-11 
 3-2.9 The Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag………………………………… III-11 
 3-2.10 Reading of Resolutions………………………………………………… III-12 
 
Section 3 Committees 
 3-3.1 Number…………………………………………………………………… III-12 
 3-3.2 Membership……………………………………………………………… III-13 
 3-3.3 Attendance at Meetings………………………………………………… III-13 
 3-3.4 Term of Office …………………………………………………………… III-14 
 3-3.5 Nature and Responsibilities of Committees………………………… III-14 
 3-3.6 Functions of the Standing Committees……………………………… III-15 


(a) Administration Committee…………………………………………  III-15 
(b) Engineering and Operations Committee ……………………… III-16 
(c) Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation Committee… III-16 


 3-3.7 Financial Limitation of Committees…………………………………… III-17 
 
Section 4 Meeting Material 
 3-4.1 Agendas………………………………………………………………… III-17 
 3-4.2 Content…………………………………………………………………… III-18 
 3-4.3 Exceptions ……………………………………………………………… III-18 
 
Section 5 Protest Procedure for Competitively Bid 
 and Competitively Negotiated Contracts 
 3-5.1 Protest Procedures……………………………………………………… III-18 
 3-5.2 Pre-bid Protests………………………………………………………… III-19 
 3-5.3 Notice of Recommended Award and Submission of Protest……… III-20 
 3-5.4 Decision on Protest on the Recommended Award………………… III-21 
 
Section 6 Board Correspondence and Communications 
 3-6.1 Board Correspondence………………………………………………… III-22 
 3-6.2 Board Communications - Brown Act Compliance…………………… III-22 
 3-6.3 Staff Correspondence to Elected or Appointed Officials…………… III-24 
 


CHAPTER IV PERSONNEL PROVISIONS 
 
Section 1 Compensation Policy 
 4-1.1 System…………………….……………………………………………… IV- 1 
 4-1.2 Personnel………………………………………………………………… IV- 1 
 4-1.3 Holidays…………………………………………………………………… IV- 1 


 
  







BOARD RULES TABLE OF CONTENTS 


 iii 


CHAPTER IV PERSONNEL PROVISIONS (continued) 
 
Section 2 Collective Bargaining 
 4-2.1 Representation of the District…………………………………………… IV- 2 
 


CHAPTER V FINANCIAL PROVISIONS 
 
Section 1 Annual Budget 
 5-1.1 General Provisions………………………………………………………… V- 1 
 5-1.2 Budget Submitted to Board……………………………………………… V- 1 
 5-1.3 Notice of Availability of Pamphlets and Time of Hearing……………… V- 1 
 5-1.4 Adjustments in the Annual Budget……………………………………… V- 2 
 5-1.5 Approval of Demands…………………………………………………… V- 2 
 5-1.6 Faithful Performance Bonds……………………………………………… V- 2 
 
Section 2 Agreements and Contracts 
 5-2.1 General Provisions……………………………………………………… V- 2 
 5-2.2 Authorization……………………………………………………………… V- 3 
 5-2.3 Review……………………………………………………………………… V- 3 
 5-2.4 Change Orders…………………………………………………………… V- 3 
 5-2.5 Limitation on Contracting by Board Members………………………… V- 4 
 
Section 3 Reimbursable Expenses 
 5-3.1 Reimbursement for Travel and Personal Expenses…………………… V- 4 
 5-3.2 Rules for Travel and Personal Expenses……………………………… V- 5 
 5-3.3 Expense Reports………………………………………………………… V- 8 
 5-3.4 District Automobile Use…………………………………………………… V- 9 
 5-3.5 Use of District Property Other than Automobiles……………………… V- 9 
 5-3.6 Violations of Use of District Property Rules…………………………… V-10 
 5-3.7 Expenses for which Reimbursement is Prohibited…………………… V-11 


Section 4 Campaign Contribution Statements and 
 Statements of Economic Interest 


 5-4.1 Filing and Publication of Required Statements………………………… V-11 
 
Section 5 Financial Contribution Limitation 
 5-5.1 Contractor/Subcontractor Contributions………………………………… V-12 
 5-5.2 Contractor/Subcontractor Certification of Compliance………………… V-12 
 5-5.3 Contractor/Subcontractor Information Submitted to Board…………… V-13 
 5-5.4 Definitions………………………………………………………………… V-13 
 


CHAPTER VI AMENDMENTS AND SUSPENSION 
 6-1.1 Amendments……………………………………………………………… VI-1 
 6-1.2 Suspension………………………………………………………………… VI-1 


 







BOARD RULES TABLE OF CONTENTS 


 iv 


CHAPTER VII INTERPRETATIONS 


 7-1.1 Interpretations…………………………………………………………… VII-1 


 


PRINCIPAL RULES GOVERNING MOTIONS ………………………………… Appendix A 


COMMITTEES:  SCHEDULE AND STRUCTURE……………………………… Appendix B 


BOARD OF DIRECTORS CODE OF CONDUCT ………………………………Appendix C







BOARD RULES CHAPTER I 


I-1 


CHAPTER I 


GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
SECTION 1. POLICY 
 
1-1.1 Board of Directors 


 
 The Board is the legislative body of the District and, consistent with the 


provisions of the District Act, shall determine all questions of District policy. Both 
establishment and direction of policy are made by the affirmative votes of a 
majority of all of the Directors. 


 
1-1.2 Rules  


 
 These Rules have been adopted to govern the proceedings of the Board of 


Directors and to prescribe how the funds of the District may be disbursed.  
Appendix C, Board of Directors Code of Conduct, addresses the conduct of 
Directors. 


 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 II-1 


 CHAPTER II 


OFFICERS AND DUTIES 


SECTION 1. OFFICERS 
 
2-1.1 Officers 
 
 The Officers of the District are the members of the Board of Directors, including a 


President, a Vice President, a Secretary, a General Manager, a General 
Counsel, and a Controller-Treasurer. 


 
2-1.2 Election of Officers 
 


Election to choose the President and Vice President shall be held at the second 
 regular meeting of the Board of Directors in December of each year. 
 
         Revised and Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 


The President may appoint a committee to nominate candidates for the offices of 
President and/or Vice President. 
 


 
2-1.3 Terms of Office  
 
 Terms of Office of the President and Vice President shall be from the second 


regular meeting of the Board of Directors in December of each year to the 
second regular meeting of the Board of Directors in December of the following 
year, or in the case of an election to fill an unexpired term, for that portion of the 
term remaining after such President or Vice President is elected. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 
2-1.4 Vacancies  
 
 Vacancies in the office of President or Vice President shall be filled by the Board 


of Directors from among its members by election for the unexpired portion of the 
term. 


 
2-1.5 Rotation of Offices  
 


In connection with the annual election of a President and Vice President: 
 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 II-2 


(a)  The Presidency and the Vice Presidency shall rotate annually among the 
 three counties.  


 
(b) The Presidency and the Vice Presidency shall not be held by Directors 


from the same county. 
 


(c) The Vice President shall succeed the President. 
 
(d) To ensure proper rotation, Directors of Districts 1, 2, and 3 shall be 


considered from Contra Costa County; Directors of Districts 4, 5, and 6 
shall be considered from Alameda County; and Directors of Districts 7, 8, 
and 9 shall be considered from San Francisco County. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         December 1, 1988 


 
 


SECTION 2. DUTIES 


2-2.1 President 
 
 The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and shall 


appoint all committee members, subject to Board ratification.  If a controversial 
matter comes before the Board without having received prior consideration by a 
committee of the Board, at the discretion of the President, discussion may be 
suspended and the matter referred to a committee of the Board for review and 
recommendation to the Board.  Unless the Board makes the necessary 
determination by the required vote specified in Section 54954.2 of the California 
Government Code (Brown Act), the Board shall not take action upon any matter 
coming before a regular meeting of the Board which was not described on the 
Board's agenda of business posted at least 72 hours in advance of the regular 
meeting.  The President shall refer any such matter to the appropriate committee 
of the Board. The President shall perform such other duties as may be 
prescribed for that office from time to time by the Board of Directors. 


         Revised and Adopted 
         January 22, 1987 
 


The President is authorized to issue certificates of recognition, appreciation, or 
commendation to persons or organizations upon request of other Directors or as 
he or she deems appropriate. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         September 27, 2001 
 
 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 II-3 


2-2.2 Vice President 
 


The Vice President shall have all of the powers and shall perform all of the duties 
of the President in the absence of or inability of the President to act. 


 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-1 


CHAPTER III 
 


BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES 
 


SECTION 1. REQUIREMENTS FOR BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 
3-1.1 Definition of Meeting 


 
A meeting of the Board or any (special) Committee or any Standing Committee is 
deemed to include any congregation of a majority of the members of the Board 
or any (special) Committee or Standing Committee in the same time and place to 
hear, discuss, or deliberate upon any item that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the Board or any (special) Committee or Standing Committee, as 
the case may be.  Included in this definition is any use of direct communication, 
personal intermediaries, or technological devices that may be employed by a 
majority of the Directors to develop a collective concurrence as to an action to be 
taken by the Board or any (special) Committee or Standing Committee. 
 
The following are excluded from the definition of a meeting: 
 
(a) Individual contacts between a Director and any other person. 


 
(b) The attendance of a majority of the Directors at a conference or similar 


gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of issues of general 
interest to the public or to the District, provided that a majority of the 
Directors, or any (special) Committee whether of the Board or of a Standing 
Committee, do not discuss among themselves business of a specific nature 
that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board or the applicable 
committee. 


 
(c) The attendance of a majority of the Directors at an open and publicized 


meeting organized to address a topic of local community concern by a 
person or organization other than the local agency, provided that a majority 
of Directors, or any (special) Committee whether of the Board or of a 
Standing Committee, do not discuss among themselves business of a 
specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board or 
the applicable committee. 


 
(d) The attendance of a majority of the Directors at a purely social or ceremonial 


occasion, provided that a majority of the Directors, or any (special) 
Committee whether of the Board or of a Standing Committee, do not discuss 
among themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the Board or the applicable committee. 


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-2 


3-1.2 Notice of Regular Meeting 


Notice of each regular meeting of the Board or any (special) Committee or a 
Standing Committee shall be mailed to each Director and to each local 
newspaper of general circulation, radio or television station, and to persons 
located within the territory of the District who have requested notice of such 
meeting in writing. (The Board may establish, from time to time, reasonable fees 
to reimburse the District for the cost of fulfilling such requests.)  Such notice shall 
be mailed at least eight days in advance of such meeting, and shall specify the 
time and place of the meeting. 


 
At least 72 hours before a regular Board or any (special) Committee or Standing 
Committee meeting, the District Secretary shall post an agenda containing a brief 
general description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the 
meeting including, in the case of a Board meeting, a description of items to be 
discussed in closed session as required by Section 54954.2 of the Government 
Code of the State of California (Brown Act)1. The agenda shall specify the time 
and location of the regular meeting and shall be posted in a location that is freely 
accessible to members of the public. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 
3-1.3 Place of Meeting 


All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held in the Board Room of the 
District (Kaiser Center 20th Street Mall, 344 20th Street, Third Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612), unless, during a meeting or at a previous meeting, the Board 
determines that the meeting shall be held elsewhere.  In the case of a special 
meeting, the President, when circumstances warrant, may designate a place 
other than the Board Room.  Standing Committees of the Board are authorized 
to hold meetings and public hearings at points within the District as the 
committee chairperson deems necessary and appropriate.  The chairperson of 
any Standing Committee which holds a public hearing shall report thereon to the 
Board of Directors. All meetings of the Board of Directors or Standing 
Committees shall be held within the boundaries of the District unless special 
circumstances call for a meeting outside the District in accordance with Section 
54954. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 
 
                                                 
1 All statutory references in this chapter are to Sections of the Government Code of 


the State of California which are part of the Brown Act. 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-3 


3-1.4 Meeting Start Times 
 
District Meetings shall begin at the time designated on the agenda. 
 


(a) If the President and Vice President are not present, a regular or special 
Board meeting shall begin when a quorum is present.  In that case, the 
Board meeting shall be chaired by the immediate past President.   the 
Chairperson of the Administration Committee, or if he/she is not present, by 
the Chairperson of the Engineering and Operations Committee, or if he/she 
is not present, the Chairperson of the Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and 
Legislation Committee. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         January 11, 2001 
 


(b) A Committee meeting of a standing Committee shall convene at the 
designated time and/or upon the arrival of a quorum of a Committee as 
provided in 3-3.2.  


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         August 28, 1997 
 


(c) If any Board member requests that an item be delayed because of an 
inability to attend a meeting, the item may be: (1) acted upon; (2) continued 
to the next meeting or; (3) the meeting recessed until the arrival of the Board 
member making the request. There shall be a voice vote of those Committee 
members present on which action to take and the vote will be recorded in 
the District Secretary’s notes. 


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         July 24, 1997 
 
3-1.5 Special Meeting 


(a) The President shall call special meetings of the Board, when in the 
opinion of the President, the business of the District requires it, or at the 
request of three Directors.  Such requests shall be directed to the 
Secretary. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         September 27, 2007 


 
  







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-4 


(b) The chairperson of a Standing Committee may call special meetings of his 
or her committee, when in the opinion of the chairperson, the business of 
the District requires it. In the event that a chairperson decides to call a 
special meeting, he or she shall notify the President prior to scheduling 
the meeting. 


 


Whenever a special meeting shall be called, written notice shall be delivered 
personally or by mail to each Director and to each local newspaper of general 
circulation, radio or television station requesting in writing such notice. Such 
notice shall be delivered personally or by mail and shall be received at least 
twenty-four (24) hours before the time of such special meeting as specified in the 
notice. The call and notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting 
and the business to be transacted.  The District Secretary shall post the notice of 
a special meeting at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in a location that 
is freely accessible to members of the public. No other business shall be 
considered at such meeting. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 


3-1.6 Citizens' Comments 
 
Every agenda for regular meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of 
the public to directly address the meeting on items of interest to the public that 
are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board or applicable Standing 
Committee. In addition, every notice for a special meeting at which action is 
proposed to be taken on an item shall provide an opportunity for members of the 
public to directly address the meeting concerning that item prior to action on the 
item. 
 
Citizens who present written requests to speak will be permitted to present their 
views orally and briefly, directly at the meeting. Citizens shall be encouraged, 
whenever possible, to present their comments at the appropriate committee 
meeting rather than at the meeting of the full Board. 


 
At Board meetings, the President will exercise his or her best judgment 
concerning the time, manner and duration of the citizen comment; similarly, the 
chairperson shall exercise his or her best judgment in this regard at committee 
meetings.  The Board will not prohibit public criticism of the policies, procedures, 
programs, or services of the District, or of any acts or omissions of the Board. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-5 


3-1.7 Staff Report Prior to Public Hearings before the Board 
 
Staff shall give an oral explanation and overview of the issues being considered 
prior to the opening of any public hearing being conducted by the Board. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         December 7, 1995 
 
3-1.8 Consideration of Non-Agenda Items at a Meeting 


 
Neither The Board nor any Standing Committee shall not discuss or take action 
on any item not appearing on the agenda posted at least 72 hours in advance 
except as follows: 
 
(a) Directors may briefly respond to statements made or questions posed by 


persons exercising their public testimony rights. 
 


(b) Directors may, on their own initiative or in response to questions posed by 
the public, ask a question for clarification, provide a reference to staff or 
other resources for factual information, or request staff to report back to 
the Board or committee at a subsequent meeting concerning the matter. 


 Furthermore, a Director may take action to direct staff to place a matter of 
business on a future agenda. 


 
(c) Notwithstanding subsections (a) and (b) above, the Board may take action 


on items of business not appearing on the agenda under any of the 
conditions stated below. A Standing Committee may take action under 
conditions set forth in subparagraphs (2) and (3) below. Prior to 
discussing any item pursuant to this subsection, the Board or Standing 
Committee shall publicly identify the item. 


(1) Upon a determination of a majority of the Board that an emergency 
exists as defined in Section 54956.5. 


 
(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the 


Board or Standing Committee present at the meeting; or, if less 
than two-thirds of the Directors of the Board or Standing 
Committee, as the case may be, are present, a unanimous vote of 
those Directors present, that there is a need to take immediate 
action and that the need for action came to the attention of the 
Board or Standing Committee subsequent to the agenda being 
posted. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         June 11, 1998 
 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-6 


(3) The item was posted on the agenda for a prior meeting of the 
Board or Standing Committee occurring not more than five 
calendar days prior to the date action is taken on the item, and at 
the prior meeting the item was continued to the meeting at which 
action is being taken. 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 
SECTION 2. BOARD MEETINGS 
 
3-2.1 Regular Meetings 


 
The Board of Directors shall hold regular meetings beginning at 9:00 a.m., on the 
second Thursday and beginning at 5:00 p.m., on the fourth Thursday of each 
month, except that in the month of November, one meeting shall be held 
beginning at 9:00 a.m., on the third Thursday, provided that when that November 
regular meeting falls on a legal holiday the meeting shall be held on the second 
Thursday; and in the month of December meetings shall be held beginning at 
9:00 a.m., on the first and third Thursday.  Except as provided above for the 
November meeting, when a regular meeting falls on a legal holiday, the meeting 
shall be held at the same hour on the next business day, or such other time as 
may be fixed by the Board at a preceding meeting.  An additional regular meeting 
may be scheduled in November if it is deemed necessary for the conduct of 
District business. (See Appendix B.)  The provision for a Regular Meeting start 
time of 5:00 p.m., on the fourth Thursday of each month will apply to Calendar 
2016 unless extended by the Board. 


         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 
 


Two regular meetings each year will be held at locations within the District other 
than the BART Board Room in Oakland.  The locations will be rotated amongst 
Eastern/Southern Alameda, Contra Costa and San Francisco Counties.  The 
locations will be located near BART Stations.  This provision will apply to 
Calendar 2016 and 2017 unless extended by the Board. 


 
 
3-2.2 Evening Meetings 


 
The Board of Directors may adjust meeting start times will hold evening meetings 
when merited by an appropriate expression of public interest as judged by the 
President of the Board of Directors, to facilitate better communication between 
the Board and its constituents. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-7 


 
3-2.3 Closed Sessions 


Prior to holding any closed session, the Board shall disclose, in an open meeting, 
the item or items to be discussed in the closed session.  The disclosure may take 
the form of a reference to the item or items as they are listed by number or letter 
on the agenda. In the closed session, the Board may consider only those matters 
covered in its statement.  After the closed session is completed, if the Board has 
taken any action in closed session, the Board will reconvene and will publicly 
report such action, including the vote or abstention of every member, as follows: 


 
(a) Approval of an agreement concerning real estate negotiations pursuant to 


Section 54956.8 shall be reported after the agreement is final, as specified 
below: 


 
(1) If its own approval renders the agreement final, the Board shall 


report that approval and the substance of the agreement in open 
session at the public meeting during which the closed session is 
held. 


 
(2) If final approval rests with the other party to the negotiations, the 


local agency shall disclose the fact of that approval and the 
substance of the agreement upon inquiry by any person, as soon 
as the other party or its agent has informed the Board of its 
approval. 


 
(b) Approval given to the Board's legal counsel to defend, or seek or refrain 


from seeking appellate review or relief, or to enter as an amicus curiae in 
any form of litigation as the result of a consultation under Section 54956.9 
shall be reported in open session at the public meeting during which the 
closed session is held. The report shall identify, if known, the adverse 
party or parties and the substance of the litigation. In the case of approval 
given to initiate or intervene in an action, the announcement need not 
identify the action, the defendants, or other particulars, but shall specify 
that the direction to initiate or intervene in an action has been given and 
that the action, the defendants and the other particulars shall, once 
formally commenced, be disclosed to any person upon inquiry, unless to 
do so would jeopardize the District's ability to effectuate service of process 
on one or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its 
ability to conclude existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 


 
(c) Approval given to the Board's legal counsel of a settlement of pending 


litigation, as defined in Section 54956.9, at any stage prior to or during a 
judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding shall be reported after the settlement 
is final, as specified below: 


 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-8 


(1) If the Board accepts a settlement signed by the opposing party, the 
Board shall report its acceptance and identify the substance of the 
agreement in open session at the public meeting during which the 
closed session is held. 


 
(2) If final approval rests with some other party to the litigation or with 


the court, then as soon as the settlement becomes final, and upon 
inquiry by any person, the local agency shall disclose the fact of 
that approval, and identify the substance of the agreement. 


 
(d) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed session pursuant to 


Section 54956.95 shall be reported as soon as reached in a manner that 
identifies the name of the claimant, the name of the local agency claimed 
against, the substance of the claim, and any monetary amount approved 
for payment and agreed upon by the claimant. 


 
(e) Action taken to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of, or 


otherwise affect the employment status of a public employee in closed 
session pursuant to Section 54957 shall be reported at the public meeting 
during which the closed session is held. Any report required by this 
subsection shall identify the title of the position and specify any change in 
compensation.  The general requirement of this Section notwithstanding, 
the report of a dismissal or of the nonrenewal of an employment contract 
shall be deferred until the first public meeting following the exhaustion of 
administrative remedies, if any. 


 
(f) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations pursuant to 


Section 54957.6 shall be reported after the agreement is final and has 
been accepted or ratified by the other party.  The report shall identify the 
items approved and the other party or parties to the negotiation. 


 
Reports that are required to be made pursuant to this Section may be made 
orally or in writing. The Board shall provide any person who has submitted a 
written request to the Board within 24 hours of the posting of the agenda, or to 
any person who has made a standing request for all documentation as part of a 
request for notice of meetings, if the requestor is present at the time the closed 
session ends, copies of any contracts, settlement agreements, or other 
documents that were finally approved or adopted in the closed session. If the 
action taken results in one or more substantive amendments to the related 
documents requiring retyping, the documents need not be released until the 
retyping is completed during normal business hours, provided that the President 
of the Board, or his or her designee, orally summarizes the substance of the 
amendments for the benefit of the document requestor or any other person 
present and requesting the information. The documentation shall be available to 
any person on the next business day following the meeting, or in the case of 
substantial amendments, when any necessary retyping is complete. 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-9 


 
The announcements required to be made in open session may be made at the 
location announced in the agenda for the closed session, as long as the public is 
allowed to be present at that location for the purpose of hearing the 
announcements. 
 
In accordance with Section 54957, the Board will provide that, in the event that a 
closed session is held to hear the specific complaints or charges against an 
employee by another employee or person, the employee so charged shall 
receive twenty-four (24) hours notice of his or her right to have the complaints or 
charges heard in open session rather than closed session. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
        March 24, 1994 
 


3-2.4 Emergency Meetings in Emergency Situations 


(a) For the purposes of this rule, "emergency situations" means both of the 
following:  


(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, 
crippling activity or other activity that severely impairs public health, 
safety or both, as determined by a majority of the members of the 
Board of Directors. 


 
(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, 


mass destruction, terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that 
poses peril so immediate and significant that requiring a legislative 
body to provide one-hour notice before holding an emergency 
meeting under this section may endanger the public health, safety 
or both, as determined by a majority of the members of the Board 
of Directors. 


 
(b) Subject to the two paragraphs immediately below, in the case of an 


emergency situation involving matters upon which prompt action is 
necessary due to the disruption or threatened disruption of public facilities, 
a legislative body may hold an emergency meeting without complying with 
either the 24-hour notice requirement or the 24-hour posting requirement 
of Section 54956 or both of the notice and posting requirements. 
 
Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station 
that has requested notice of special meetings and each member of the 
Board shall be notified by the President or his/her designee one hour prior 
to the special emergency meeting, or in the case of a dire emergency, at 
or near the time that the President or his/her designee notifies the 
members of the legislative body of the emergency meeting.  This notice 
shall be given by telephone, and the President or his/her designee shall 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-10 


exhaust all telephone numbers previously furnished by each Board 
member to the District Secretary or provided in the most recent request of 
such newspaper or station for notification of special meetings. 
 
If telephone services are not functioning, the notice requirement of this 
rule shall be deemed waived and the Board, or a designee thereof, shall 
notify such newspapers, radio stations or television stations and any 
member of the Board not present at the special emergency meeting of the 
fact of the holding of the meeting, the purpose of the meeting and any 
action taken at the meeting as soon after the meeting as possible. 
 


(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this Section, the legislative body may 
meet in closed session pursuant to Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-
thirds vote of the members of the legislative body present, or if less than 
two-thirds of the members are present, by a unanimous vote of all the 
members present. 


 
The call and notice of this special emergency meeting shall specify the 
time and place of the special emergency meeting and the business to be 
transacted.  No other business shall be considered at such meeting. 


 
The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this rule, a list of persons who 
the President of the Board or designee thereof notified or attempted to 
notify, a copy of the roll call vote, and any actions taken at such meeting 
shall be posted for a minimum of ten days in a public place as soon after 
the meeting as possible. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 


        June 23, 2011 


3-2.5 Cancellation of Meetings 
 
At least 72 hours in advance of any meeting the President may request the 
Secretary to poll the Board to determine whether any Directors object to its 
cancellation. If three or more Directors object, the meeting shall not be canceled. 
If there are less than three objections, the Secretary shall, at least 24 hours in 
advance, issue a notice of meeting cancellation and use his/her best effort 
promptly to advise the Board, the press and other interested parties of such 
cancellation. 
A special meeting of the Board which has been requested in writing by three or 
more members may not be canceled. 
 
A regular Board meeting may not be canceled unless at least one regular Board 
meeting has already been held or is planned for the month concerned. 
 


 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-11 


3-2.6 Minutes: Recording, Reading and Approval 
 
Minutes shall be kept by the District Secretary in writing of each regular and 
special meeting, other than closed sessions, which minutes upon approval shall 
be the official record of action taken by the Board. The reading of the minutes of 
a previous meeting may be dispensed with and the minutes approved without 
such reading, provided the District Secretary has furnished each member of the 
Board a copy of the minutes prior to the meeting.  The minutes shall be read 
prior to approval whenever such reading is requested by a member of the Board. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         November 17, 1988 
 
3-2.7 Acts of the Board 


 
The acts of the Board shall be expressed by ordinance, resolution, or motion. No 
ordinance, resolution, or motion shall have any validity or effect unless passed by 
the affirmative votes of a majority of the Directors. The adoption of ordinances 
and resolutions shall be by roll call vote, which shall be entered upon the minutes 
of the meeting. 


 
3-2.8 Parliamentary Procedure 
 


At meetings of the Board of Directors questions of parliamentary procedure shall 
be decided by the presiding officer and shall not affect the validity of any action 
taken by the Board. Parliamentary Procedure regarding motions shall be 
conducted in accordance with Appendix A of these Rules entitled "Principal 
Rules Governing Motions." The current edition of The Standard Code of 
Parliamentary Procedure shall be used to resolve questions of interpretation of 
the "Principal Rules Governing Motions" to the extent it is not inconsistent 
therewith. 
 


         Revised and adopted 
         June 13, 1996 


 
Pursuant to the opinion of the General Counsel dated September 22, 1977: 
 


 (a) All the votes required for Board action shall be cast at the same meeting. 
 
 (b) All Directors whose votes are required for adoption of the measure 


 concerned shall be present at the meeting at the time the vote is taken. 
 


3-2.9 Pledge of Allegiance 
 


 The Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag shall be made at meetings of the Board. 
 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-12 


3-2.10 Reading of Resolutions 
 


It shall be unnecessary for the District Secretary to read aloud any portion of a 
written resolution submitted to the Board for action in the absence of a request 
by a Director for such a reading. 
 


 
 
SECTION 3.  COMMITTEES 
 
3-3.1 Number 


 
Committees of the Board shall consist of the following: 


(a) The Board may create such Standing Committees as it deems necessary 
and proper. 


 
 Standing Committees: 


 
(1) Administration. 
(2) Engineering and Operations. 
(3) Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation. 


 
(b)  Special Committees: 


 
Such special committees as may be authorized by the Board from time to 
time. A special committee shall cease to exist when the Board determines 
that the committee is no longer needed.  


 
Special Committees shall adhere to the Brown Act. 
 
Special Committees shall be noticed 72 hours in advance. 


 
All agendas will be distributed, posted and published on-line before the 
meeting. 


 
The meetings will normally be held in the BART Board Room, Kaiser 
Center 20th Street Mall, 344 20th Street, Third Floor, at 9:00 a.m. on the 
first Thursday of each month, unless otherwise directed by the 
Chairperson. 


 
Materials provided to members in advance of the meeting will be available 
on the District’s website at www.bart.gov.  Materials distributed at the 
meeting will be made available to the public during the meeting and by 
request to the District Secretary following the meeting. 


 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-13 


Special committee meetings shall be video recorded and such recordings 
shall be available through the District Secretary’s office. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 


 
(c) Ad Hoc Committees: 


 
The Board may create such Ad Hoc Committees as it deems necessary 
and proper.  It is the intent of the Board that such Ad Hoc Committee 
meetings be open to the public and noticed as such in a manner 
consistent with the Brown Act. 


  
 


3-3.2 Membership 
 
The President shall make appointments to all Committees and designate the 
Chairperson and Vice Chairperson thereof. Any appointment by the President of 
any Committee or liaison member or Committee Chairperson or Vice 
Chairperson of any Committee shall be ratified by a majority vote of all members 
of the Board. Such appointments shall be submitted directly to the Board for 
ratification. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         January 13, 2000 
 


(a) The Administration, Engineering and Operations, and Planning, Public 
Affairs, Access, and Legislation Committees shall be composed of three 
(3) members. No business of these Committees shall be conducted 
unless a quorum of the Committee is present. A quorum of the 
Administration, Engineering and Operations, and Planning, Public Affairs, 
Access, and Legislation Committees shall be two (2) members of the 
Committee.  


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 
 


3-3.3 Attendance at Meetings 


All Board members are authorized to be compensated in accordance with 
Resolution Nos. 4739 and 5044 for attendance at Board, standing and special 
committee meetings. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         March 13, 2008 
 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-14 


 
No Director shall be compensated for a meeting from which the Director was 
absent while on official District business unless that Director provides a timely, 
brief written explanation of the official business conducted to the District 
Secretary. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         November 19, 1998 
 


For purposes of this Rule, “official District business” shall mean acting in one’s 
capacity as Director on behalf of the District.  Examples of official District 
business include, but are not limited to:  meeting with legislators and other public 
officials and their representatives on matters concerning the District; making or 
attending presentations on behalf of the District; traveling to and attending other 
meetings as District representatives; and participating in activities related thereto.


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         January 28, 1999 
 
3-3.4 Term of Office 
 


The term of office for members of the committees shall be from the date of 
appointment until their successors are appointed. It is understood that the 
committees are reappointed annually, following the election of officers. 
Whenever a vacancy occurs on a standing or special committee, the President 
shall make either a temporary or a permanent appointment to fill the vacancy, 
subject to Board ratification. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         June 11, 1998 
 
3-3.5  Nature and Responsibilities of Committees 
 


(a) All Committees are advisory only. 
 
(b) Tape recordings shall be kept of each special committee meeting. These 


tapes will be available for listening by each Director or member of the 
public through the District Secretary's Office. 


 
(c) Committees may initiate consideration of any problem or measure relating 


to the general or specific functions assigned to that committee. 
 


(d) Matters coming to committees which require action by the Board of 
Directors may be recommended to the Board by the vote of a majority of 
the committee members present at a committee meeting.  If a matter 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-15 


receives a tie vote in a committee, it shall be forwarded to the Board 
without recommendation from the committee. 


 
(e) At the request of three Directors, any matter will be placed directly on the 


agenda of an upcoming regular Board Meeting regardless of whether it 
has been assigned to a specific committee, provided applicable meeting 
notice and agenda requirements are met. Similarly, at the request of three 
Directors, any topic will be scheduled for a Board workshop, provided 
applicable meeting notice and agenda requirements are met. Such 
requests shall be directed to the Secretary.  


         Revised and Adopted  
         June 23, 2011 
3-3.6 Functions of the Standing Committees 
 


(a) Administration Committee 
 
This committee shall make recommendations to the Board concerning the 
following subjects: 
 
1. Financial planning and budgets. 
2. Insurance. 
3. Personnel. 
4. Employee relations. 
5. Supply. 
6. Rules of the Board of Directors. 
7. General policy. 
8. Real estate, except space acquisition. 
9. Audit review. 
10. Strategic funding initiatives. 
11. Small/Minority/Women owned Businesses.  


 
To aid Directors in undertaking and fulfilling their responsibilities for 
financial reporting to the general public, the Administration Committee will, 
periodically, convene as a special Audit Review Group. Meetings of this 
group may be called by the Chairperson or any members of the 
Administration Committee. 


 
When acting in this capacity, the group will recommend to the full Board 
the appointment of independent outside auditors. They shall also review 
the annual financial statements of the District prior to their submission to 
the Board of Directors and may examine and consider such other matters 
in relation to the internal and external audit of the District's accounts and 
in relation to the financial affairs of the District and its accounts as the 
group may, in its discretion, determine to be desirable. 
 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-16 


(b) Engineering and Operations Committee 
 


This committee shall make recommendations to the Board concerning the 
following subjects: 


 
1.  Engineering and construction. 
2. Space acquisition. 
3. Transportation service planning and operations. 
4. Equipment and communications facilities. 
5. Maintenance. 
6. Research and development. 
7. Physical design. 
8. Safety, security and emergency management. 
9. Sustainability and “Green” initiatives. 
 


(c) Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation Committee 
 
This committee shall make recommendations to the Board concerning the 
following subjects: 


 
1. Public information. 
2. Passenger information. 
3. Advertising. 
4. Marketing. 
5. Public relations. 
6. Legislation. 
7. Station access. 
8. Station area development. 
9. Strategic planning. 
 


Strategic planning issues addressed by this committee shall concern 
the following subjects: 


 
1. Approach, direction and roles for the strategic plan process. 
 
2. Responsibilities and tasks for subcommittees, task forces or work 


groups, as needed, to further the development of and updates to the 
strategic plan. 


 
3. Review and revision of BART’s mission and objectives, as needed. 
 
4. Identification of key issues and strategies to respond to changing 


conditions and needs in the future as related to the strategic plan. 
 
5. Develop strategies that define how BART will realize its mission and 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-17 


achieve its vision of the future. 
 
6. Review the BART strategic plan on at least an annual basis. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 
 
3-3.7 Financial Limitation of Committees 


 
No committee shall employ or engage the services of any person or authorize or 
incur any charge, debt or liability against the District. 
 


 
 
SECTION 4. MEETING MATERIAL 
 
3-4.1 Agendas 


 
It is the responsibility of the District Secretary to prepare written agendas for all 
meetings of the Board and its Standing Committees and to post agendas for 
regular and special meetings.  Agendas shall include a brief description of each 
item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meetings to which they 
apply, including in the case of Board meetings, a description of items to be 
discussed in closed session as required by Section 54954.2. Agendas for regular 
meetings shall be posted 72 hours in advance of the meeting.  Items for inclusion 
on agendas shall be submitted to the District Secretary in a timely fashion to 
permit compliance with this section. Items may be deleted from, but not added to, 
an agenda prior to a regular meeting, unless the addition is made prior to the 72 
hour posting deadline for the agenda. 


 
Each regular Board meeting agenda shall contain an item entitled “Roll Call for 
Introductions,” at which time each Director will be afforded an opportunity to 
introduce a matter for consideration at a future Committee or Board Meeting. 
Requests to District staff to prepare items or reports may also be made under 
this agenda item. 
 
If a Director or the General Manager has a concern about a matter introduced 
under “Roll Call for Introductions,”  the General Manager may speak directly with 
the sponsoring Director.  If not resolved the Director or General Manager may 
have the matter placed on the next agenda of the Board or appropriate 
committee for consideration of whether to proceed with the item. A Director or 
the General Manager may request that a matter raised during “Roll Call for 
Introductions” be placed on the Board or committee agenda by notifying the 
District Secretary, either at the Board Meeting at which the matter was 
introduced, or at any time up to and including the Friday before the next meeting. 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-18 


When so notified, the District Secretary shall place any such item on the next 
Board or committee agenda for consideration and possible action. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 
 
 


 
3-4.2 Content 


Each substantive item on an agenda shall be supported by an adequate written 
explanation containing a statement of the purpose or problem, including any 
necessary background; a staff recommendation, when appropriate; and, when 
applicable, a discussion of alternates considered and rejected, with concise 
reasons why.  It is the responsibility of the General Manager to present a written 
explanation for each substantive item presented to the District Secretary, who 
shall mail agendas and such supporting material to all Directors by the last 
business day of the week prior to the week of the meeting and shall make such 
supporting material available for public inspection in the Office of the District 
Secretary by the first business day of the week of the meeting. Items for inclusion 
on agendas and all supporting material shall be submitted to the District 
Secretary in a timely fashion to permit compliance with this section. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 
3-4.3 Exceptions  


 
Exceptions to Sections 3-4.1 and 3-4.2 will be made only when convincing 
evidence is filed in writing with the General Manager that it would be in the best 
interest of the District to do so provided that such exceptions are in compliance 
with Section 54954.2. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         March 24, 1994 
 
 
SECTION 5. PROTEST PROCEDURE FOR COMPETITIVELY BID 
 AND COMPETITIVELY NEGOTIATED CONTRACTS  
 
3-5.1 Protest Procedures 


 
(a) The Board delegates to the General Manager the authority to establish 


procedures for handling and responding to all protests on advertised and 
negotiated contracts. 


 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-19 


(b) The Board delegates to the General Manager the authority to decide all 
pre-bid protests and, for competitively negotiated contracts under Public 
Contract Code Section 20229.1, the authority to decide all protests based 
on the content of the request for proposals. 


 
(c) The Board delegates to the General Manager the authority to decide all 


contract and agreement protests on the recommended award. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         March 9, 1995 
 
3-5.2 Pre-bid Protests 
 


(a) Pre-bid protests are those protests filed prior to bid opening which are 
based on the content of the Invitation for Bids.  Pre-bid protests must be in 
writing and shall include a full and complete statement specifying in detail 
the grounds of the protest and the facts supporting the protest.  Pre-bid 
protests must be received by the District Secretary no less than seven or 
more than twenty-one calendar days, as specified in the Invitation for 
Bids, prior to the bid opening date.  A written decision, specifying the 
grounds for sustaining all or part of or denying the protest, will be 
transmitted to the protestor prior to the bid opening date. 


 
(b) For competitively negotiated contracts under Public Contract Code 


Section 20229.1, protests based on the content of the request for 
proposals shall be filed with the District within 10 calendar days after the 
request for proposal is first advertised.  Such protests must be in writing 
and shall include a full and complete statement specifying in detail the 
grounds of the protest and the facts supporting the protest.  A written 
decision, specifying the grounds for sustaining all or part of or denying the 
protest will be transmitted to the protestor prior to the bid opening date. 
The General Manager's proposed decision will be mailed to the protestor 
and become final within seven calendar days of mailing unless a protestor 
requests an opportunity to appear and be heard by the full Board. 
Protestors who have timely filed a protest based on the content of the 
request for proposals may request an opportunity to appear and be heard 
before the Board prior to the opening of proposals or prior to award, if the 
protest based on the content of the request for proposals is renewed. 


 
(c) For competitively negotiated contracts under Public Contract Code 


Section 20229.1, if the protestor requests an opportunity to appear and be 
heard by the full Board, the request shall be in writing and shall be 
accompanied by 10 copies of the written protest and by a certified check 
in the amount of $300 to cover the cost of having a shorthand reporter 
attend and prepare a transcript. The General Manager may waive the 
$300 fee upon a showing of financial hardship by a protestor. 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-20 


 
(d) If any protest is brought before the Board, the Board will hear the parties, 


consider all issues raised and take such action on the merits as it 
considers appropriate. The hearing will not be an adjudicatory hearing. 
The District staff will make a presentation after which the protestor will be 
given an opportunity to make a presentation. No subpoenas will be 
issued. Formal rules of evidence need not be followed. Speakers will not 
be sworn and may be questioned by any Director but not by any party. 
Any procedural issues not resolved by these rules shall be resolved by the 
District's General Counsel whose decision shall be final. The decision of 
the Board specifying the grounds for allowing or denying the protest will 
be mailed to the protestor within five working days of the Board's decision 
and shall be final when made.  The decision of the Board is subject to 
review consistent with the requirements of Section 1085 of the California 
Code of Civil Procedure. 


 
(e) If a majority of the Board does not vote to either uphold or deny the 


protest, then the General Manager's decision will be deemed to be 
upheld. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         March 9, 1995 


 
3-5.3 Notice of Recommended Award and Submission of Protest 
 


(a) The Department of Procurement and Materials Management shall notify 
all bidders on advertised contracts and all persons or firms submitting 
proposals on negotiated contracts of the recommended award or other 
Board action on the contract for which such persons or firms have 
submitted bids or proposals. Actions by the Board to reject all bids shall 
not be subject to protest under these rules. 


 
(b) Any bidder or proposer may protest the recommended award on any 


ground not based upon the content of the request for bid or proposal. 
Lapse or withdrawal of a protestor's bid or proposal by the date protest is 
filed may be deemed sufficient grounds for denying a protest without a 
hearing or further consideration. 


 
(c) A full and complete written statement by the protestor specifying in detail 


the grounds of the protest and the facts supporting the protest must be 
received by the District Secretary no later than seven calendar days after 
receipt of the above notice. For competitively negotiated contracts under 
California Public Contract Code Section 20229.1, protests on the 
recommended award or the renewal of protests based on the content of 
the Request for Proposals must be received by the District Secretary 
within fifteen calendar days after the mailing of the Notice of 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-21 


Recommended Award. Protests received after such dates will be deemed 
denied and notification to that effect shall be issued by the District 
Secretary. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         March 9, 1995 
 
3-5.4 Decision on Protest on the Recommended Award 
 


(a) The General Manager will advise the Board in writing of the grounds of 
any protest on any award authorized by the Board and the proposed 
decision.  The proposed decision of the General Manager will become 
final ten (10) calendar days after mailing to the Board unless any Director 
requests that the protest be heard by the full Board. The final decision will 
be mailed to both the protester and the bidder recommended for award. 


(b) For competitively negotiated contracts under Public Contract Code 
Section 20229.1, the General Manager's proposed decision will be mailed 
to the protester and the Board and become final within ten (10) calendar 
days of mailing unless a protester or a Director requests that the protester 
be given an opportunity to appear and be heard by the full Board.  If the 
protester requests an opportunity to appear and be heard by the full 
Board, the request shall be in writing and shall be accompanied by 10 
copies of the written protest and by a certified check in the amount of 
$300 to cover the cost of having a shorthand reporter attend and prepare 
a transcript.  The General Manager may waive the $300 fee upon a 
showing of financial hardship by a protester. 


 
(c) If any protest is brought before the Board, the Board will hear the parties, 


consider all issues raised and take such action on the merits as it 
considers appropriate.  The hearing will not be an adjudicatory hearing. 
The District staff will make a presentation after which the protester will be 
given an opportunity to make a presentation.  The bidder recommended 
for award will be given an opportunity to make a presentation. No 
subpoenas will be issued. Formal rules of evidence need not be followed.  
Speakers will not be sworn and may be questioned by any Director but not 
by any party.  Any procedural issues not resolved by these rules shall be 
resolved by the District's General Counsel whose decision shall be final. 
The decision of the Board specifying the grounds for allowing or denying 
the protest will be mailed to the protester and the bidder recommended for 
award within five (5) working days of the Board's decision and shall be 
final when made. The decision of the Board is subject to review consistent 
with the requirements of Section 1085 of the California Code of Civil 
Procedure. 


 
(d) If a majority of the Board does not vote to either uphold or deny the 


protest, then, if the General Manager's decision is to deny the protest and 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-22 


award the contract as authorized by the Board's original award decision, 
the General Manager's decision will be deemed to be upheld.  However, if 
the General Manager's decision is to make an alternate award or to reject 
all bids, the General Manager's decision is not upheld unless approved by 
a majority vote of the Board. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         March 9, 1995 
 
 
SECTION 6. BOARD CORRESPONDENCE AND COMMUNICATIONS 
 
3-6.1 Board Correspondence 
 


All Directors shall be issued a “bart.gov” email address and shall use that 
“BART.GOV” email address for any and all email communications involving 
District business that the Director participates in. 


 
 
Any Director: 
 
(a) who uses the staff or other resources of the District to originate or 


distribute correspondence or other material, or  
 
(b) who uses District letterhead for correspondence regardless of who 


prepares the correspondence,  


shall cause a copy of such correspondence or material to be filed with the Office 
of the District Secretary concurrently with the preparation of the correspondence 
or material. These documents shall be available for review and use by other 
Directors and District staff. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         February 22, 1990 
 
3-6.2 Board Communications - Brown Act Compliance 
 


(a) In all communications with each other, including face-to-face meetings, 
written correspondence, telephone communications and e-mail 
communications, Directors shall comply with the provisions of the Brown 
Act (Government Code Section 54950 et. seq.).  District business may not 
be discussed among a majority of members of a Board Committee, or 
more than any four members of the Board, without complying with Brown 
Act meeting requirements.  For Brown Act purposes, any gathering of a 
majority of the members of a Board Committee or the full Board to receive 
information, hear a proposal, discuss an issue or take any action on an 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-23 


issue under the subject matter jurisdiction of the District is a meeting 
subject to the notice and open meeting requirements of the Act. 


 
 (b) The following situations should be avoided:  


 
(1) The Brown Act expressly prohibits serial meetings which are 


conducted through direct communications, intermediaries or 
technological devices for the purpose of developing a concurrence 
as to action to be taken by the legislative body. Typically, a serial 
meeting is a series of communications, each of which involves less 
than a quorum of the legislative body, but which taken as a whole 
involves a quorum of the body.  Therefore, although it is acceptable 
for a Director to write an initial letter or send an initial e-mail 
message to one or more Directors on a Board matter, subsequent 
communications (in any form) may have to be counted against the 
limit of four members of the Board or a majority of members of a 
Board Committee, if the purpose of the communication is to 
develop a concurrence as to action to be taken on that Board 
matter. For example, if Directors A, B and C are all members of the 
same Board Committee, there would be a serial meeting if Director 
A sends a letter or e-mail message on a Board matter to Director B 
or Director C, if the purpose of the communications is to develop a 
concurrence as to action to be taken.  Conversations which 
advance or clarify a Board member's understanding of an issue, or 
facilitate an agreement or compromise amongst members, or 
advance the ultimate resolution of the issue, may all be viewed as 
contributing to the development of a concurrence as to actions to 
be taken. While the purpose of a particular serial communication 
may not always be clear, it is likely that a court would view 
substantive conversations amongst Board members concerning an 
actual or potential agenda item prior to a public meeting as 
contributing to the development of a concurrence as to the ultimate 
action to be taken. Therefore, Board members should avoid serial 
communications of a substantive nature concerning such items. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 
 


(2) E-mail is particularly vulnerable to potential Brown Act violations 
because of the reply and copy features of the e-mail system, and 
the ability to append previous messages.  Special care should be 
taken with e-mail to avoid Brown Act violations. Also, because e-
mail may create a record, Directors should assume that any 
statements on e-mail may become public. 


 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER III 


 III-24 


(3) Caution should be exercised when using intermediaries to 
communicate with other Board members.  For example, Board 
members should not ask District staff to communicate on their 
behalf with other Board members regarding Board matters if such 
indirect communication would result in a Brown Act violation.  
Generally, if a direct communication from a Board member would 
violate the Brown Act, so would the same communication through 
an intermediary. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         June 13, 1996 


 
3-6.3 Staff Correspondence to Elected or Appointed Officials 
 
 All members of the Board of Directors shall receive copies of correspondence 


from District staff sent to any elected or appointed official at the time such 
correspondence is transmitted to such official 


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         September 27, 2001 
 
 







 


 IV-1 


CHAPTER IV 


PERSONNEL PROVISIONS 


SECTION 1. COMPENSATION POLICY 


4-1.1 System 
 
 The Board shall establish a classification and pay system which enables the 


District to recruit, retain and motivate employees. The wages, salaries and 
benefits for positions included in collective bargaining agreements will be as 
determined by such agreements. 


 
4-1.2 Personnel 
 


(a) The General Manager shall administer wages, salaries, hours, working 
conditions, grievance procedures and benefits of District employees. The 
General Manager shall report such practices to the Board. 


 
(b) Board Appointed Officers shall submit performance evaluations to the 


Board by September 15 of each year.  These performance evaluations 
shall contain a brief summary of the preceding year's activities and 
accomplishments and a list of goals and objectives for each Board 
Appointed Officer for the following year.  If the President deems it 
necessary, he or she may from time to time establish a Special 
Personnel Committee of two to four members to address personnel 
issues relating to Board Appointed Officers.  The Secretary shall 
schedule a closed session for the second Board meeting in October for 
the Board to review Board Appointed Officers' performance.  After this 
review is completed, any adjustments to the salaries of such officers shall 
be effective January 1 of the following year. 


         Revised and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 
 
4-1.3 Holidays 
 


Unless otherwise established by collective bargaining agreements, the following 
days shall be observed by the District as holidays: 


 
New Year's Day 
The third Monday in February (Washington's Birthday) 
The last Monday in May (Memorial Day) 
Independence Day 
Labor Day 
Veteran's Day 







BOARD RULES CHAPTER IV 


IV-2 


Thanksgiving Day 
Christmas Day 


 
The General Manager may extend to non-represented personnel other holidays 
established by collective bargaining agreements. 
 


 
SECTION 2. COLLECTIVE BARGAINING 
 
4-2.1 Representation of the District 


 
 The General Manager shall represent the Board in all negotiations with labor 


organizations but no agreement by the General Manager to the terms of a 
written contract governing wages, salaries, hours, working conditions and 
grievance procedures shall be binding upon the District until ratified by the 
Board. Any agreement by the General Manager to submit disputes over the 
terms of a proposed contract pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section 28850 to 
arbitration shall first be submitted to and approved by the Board. 







 


V-1 


CHAPTER V 


FINANCIAL PROVISIONS 


SECTION 1. ANNUAL BUDGET 


5-1.1 General Provisions 
 


The General Manager, or a designated representative, shall prepare for the 
District a tentative Annual Budget by March 31 of each calendar year for the 
following fiscal year. The tentative Annual Budget shall include provisions for 
Operating Expenses, Debt Service, and such other functional categories as the 
General Manager deems appropriate. The tentative Annual Budget shall be 
submitted to the Administration Committee not later than the first (1st) day of April 
of each calendar year. 
 


5-1.2 Budget Submitted to Board 
 


After study and consideration of the tentative budget by the Administration 
Committee, The budget shall be submitted to the Board of Directors not later 
than the first regular meeting in May of each calendar year.  The Board of 
Directors shall consider the proposed budget and not later than the first (1st) day 
of June in each calendar year shall cause to be prepared a pamphlet containing 
a copy of the preliminary budget. 
 


5-1.3 Notice of Availability of Pamphlets and Time of Hearing 
 


On or before June fifth (5th) of each year, the District Secretary shall publish a 
notice once in a newspaper of general circulation in each of the counties 
comprising the District stating that: 


 
(a) the preliminary budget pamphlets are available to anyone requesting 


them, 
 


(b) on a date stated in the notice, not less than ten (10) days after the budget 
pamphlets are available, and at a time and place also stated in the notice,  
the Board will meet for the purpose of fixing the final budget, and anyone 
may appear thereat and be heard regarding the increase, decrease, or 
omission of any item on the budget or for the inclusion of additional items. 
Said hearing on the fixing of the final budget shall be held on or prior to 
June twentieth (20th). Said hearing shall be continued from day to day until 
concluded, but not to exceed a total of ten (10) days, and shall be 
concluded before the expiration of ten (10) days if there are no requests or 
applications on file with the Board for further hearings. 


  







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-2 


On or before June thirtieth (30th) of each year the Board shall, by 
resolution, adopt the budget as finally determined. 


 
5-1.4 Adjustments in the Annual Budget 
 


Adjustments between Operating Expenses, Debt Service and other functional 
categories of the Annual Budget and between the following Sections of Operating 
Expenses require action of the Board of Directors: 


Salaries and Benefits 
Other Expenses 
Contingency Reserve 
 


The General Manager may, by notice in writing to the Controller-Treasurer, 
adjust items within any individual Section of Operating Expenses. 
 


5-1.5 Approval of Demands 


Demands against the District may be approved for payment by the General 
Manager, or a designated representative, provided the Controller-Treasurer, or 
the Controller-Treasurer's designated representative, determines that funds have 
been appropriated for the purpose of the demand. Such demands shall be 
supported by vouchers, or other supporting material as may be required by the 
Controller-Treasurer to establish and identify the demand, the budget item, the 
delivery of goods or services for which the expenditure has been budgeted or 
otherwise authorized. 
 


5-1.6 Faithful Performance Bonds   


All salaried employees of the District, including but not limited to the President 
and Vice President, shall be covered by faithful performance bond/s in an 
amount/s approved by the Board of Directors.  The payment of premiums on 
such bond/s shall be by funds of the District. 
 
 


 
 
SECTION 2. AGREEMENTS AND CONTRACTS 
 
5-2.1 General Provisions 
 


The District shall, whenever possible, enter into enforceable written agreements 
or contracts with governmental and private agencies, where the need for such 
agreements or contracts is indicated. 
 


 
 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-3 


5-2.2 Authorization 
 


Except as set forth below, action by the Board authorizing execution on behalf of 
the District of any contract or agreement requiring Board authorization shall not 
be taken on the same day at which that contract or agreement is first submitted 
for consideration. This prohibition does not apply to contracts awarded by the 
Board on the basis of competitive bidding procedures, nor does it apply to any 
contract or agreement, copies of which have been mailed to each Director at 
least five (5) days in advance of the Board meeting at which it is submitted for 
consideration, and which has been certified by the General Manager as deemed 
unlikely to involve a total disbursement in excess of twenty-five thousand dollars 
($25,000). 
 


5-2.3 Review 
 


Prior to the submission of a contract or agreement to the Board or any committee 
of the Board, the General Manager shall review the contract or agreement for 
reasonableness, suitability, and adherence to specifications. 
 


5-2.4 Change Orders 
 
 (a) By General Manager Action 


 
(1) Without prior specific authorization by the Board of Directors, the 


General Manager may act for the Board with respect to change 
orders to construction or procurement contracts which amount to 
less than 10 percent of the original contract price in the aggregate, 
except as provided in paragraph (b), below. 


   
(2) The General Manager shall notify the Board one week prior to the 


issuance of any change order that is anticipated to result in 
expenditures aggregating more than 10 percent of the contract 
price. 


 
 (b) By Board of Directors Action 
 


(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) below, change orders which 
involve an expenditure of more than $200,000, or involve a 
substantial alteration or potential substantial alteration in the 
obligations of either the District or the contractor require the 
approval of the Board of Directors. 
 


  
(2) For construction and procurement contracts greater than $200 


million, change orders which involve an expenditure of more than 
$500,000 or involve a substantial alteration or potential substantial 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-4 


alteration in the obligations of either the District or the contractor 
require the approval of the Board of Directors. 


 
 (c) General 
 


(1) Where a potential change order involves: (a) a substantial alteration 
or potential substantial alteration in the obligations of either the 
District or the contractor, or (b) involves an expenditure of more 
than $200,000 ($500,000 in the case of construction and 
procurement contracts greater than $200 million), or (c) involves an 
expenditure aggregating more than 10 percent of the contract price, 
negotiations shall be conducted in reliance upon the advice of the 
General Counsel as to matters of law and no document authorizing 
such a change shall be executed for and on behalf of the District 
without prior written approval thereof by the General Counsel as to 
form. 


 
(2) This rule shall not be construed as in any way reducing the 


authority of the General Manager under Section 20224 of the Public 
Contract Code. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         November 18, 2004 


 
5-2.5 Limitation on Contracting by Board Members 
 


No Director or member of a Committee may authorize a contract or contract 
change order independently or through direction to the staff, in any amount, 
without the prior approval of the Board. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         February 13, 1992 
 
 
 
SECTION 3. REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES 
 
5-3.1 Reimbursement for Travel and Personal Expenses 


 
Reimbursement for travel and personal expenses of Directors shall include but 
not exceed the following: 
 
(a) For authorized travel between points within one hundred and fifty (150) 


miles of District headquarters, mileage necessarily traveled by private 
automobile shall be at the rate prescribed by Management Procedure No. 
20. 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-5 


 
For the purpose of computing allowable expense for a Director, mileage 
will be calculated from his/her residence or normal place of business, 
whichever is least costly to the District. 


 
(b) For other travel, actual cost of transportation by public carrier. Except in 


unusual circumstances, payment for air travel shall be at less than first 
class rates.  Directors will obtain the most economical means of 
transportation consistent with accomplishing their official task in an 
efficient and timely manner.  For example, savings by booking early airfare 
and paying additional lodging may be permissible. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         December 17, 1998 
 


(c) For other travel and personal expenses (not specified in these Rules) as 
prescribed by District Management Procedure No. 20 or as may be 
recommended by the Administration Committee and authorized by the 
Board. 


 
(d) Actual cost for personal expenses, including meals, when away from the 


District on business for periods in excess of twenty-four (24) hours, except 
that reimbursement for meals may not exceed $50.00 per Director per 
meal for dinner; breakfast and lunch may not exceed the applicable per 
diem rate.  Reimbursement for any meal may not include the cost of 
alcoholic beverages.  In lieu of reimbursement of actual personal 
expenses, payment will be made for receipted cost of lodging, telephone 
and local transportation charges, plus a per diem allowance as prescribed 
in Management Procedure No. 20 for meals and all other personal 
expenses incurred while in travel status. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         July 30, 2009 
 
5-3.2 Rules for Travel and Personal Expense 


 
The following rules shall govern travel and personal expense: 
 


 (a) Directors are authorized 
 
(1) to incur travel and personal expense, other than lodging and hotel 


suites, in connection with attendance at meetings of the Board of 
Directors, meetings of committees of the Board, liaison meetings 
and attending to other business of the District within 100 miles of 
District headquarters; and, 


 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-6 


(2) to attend and incur travel and personal expense in connection with 
transit related matters including but not limited to conferences or 
committee meetings of the American Public Transit Association 
(APTA), the Conference of Minority Transportation Officials 
(COMTO), the Transportation Research Board (TRB), RailVolution 
and other transit related conferences and meetings; provided, 
however, that such expense shall not exceed $7,500 annually for 
each Director; and, 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         January 10, 2002 
 


(3) with the concurrence of the President, to travel and incur personal 
expense in connection with travel involving a meeting with a 
member of Congress or the Executive Branch or their staffs, if it is 
not feasible to obtain prior review by the Administration Committee 
and authorization of the Board of Directors. In the case of such 
travel by the President, concurrence shall be obtained from the 
Vice President. 


 
(4) with the concurrence of the President, to travel and incur personal 


expenses by Directors who are members of APTA committees in 
connection with their duties as APTA committee members.  Travel 
expenses associated with such travel shall not count toward the 
limit set forth in Rule 5-3.2(a)(2). In the case of such travel by the 
President, concurrence shall be obtained from the Vice President. 


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         January 10, 2002 
 


(5) In regards to personal expenses incurred by Directors while 
conducting the District’s business within the area, or when away 
from the area for less than twenty-four (24) hours, reimbursement 
for meals may not exceed $50.00 per Director per dinner nor 
exceed the applicable per diem rate for breakfast and lunch. 
Reimbursement for any meal may not include the cost of alcoholic 
beverages. 


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         July 30, 2009 
 


(6) Board members shall provide brief reports on meetings attended at 
the expense of the District at the next regular meeting of the Board. 


 
         New Rule and Adopted 
         June 23, 2011 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-7 


(b) For all travel on District business beyond 100 miles from District 
headquarters by members of the Board of Directors, other than the travel 
permitted in Rule 5-3.2(a), specific prior review by the Administration 
Committee and authorization of the Board of Directors shall be obtained.  
Prior approval is also applicable to official trips by the President and Vice 
President. 
 
The Controller-Treasurer shall not prepay or reimburse any Director’s 
travel expense incurred under Rule 5-3.2(a)(2) for amounts in excess of 
the $7,500 annual expense limit without approval of the Board. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         January 10, 2002 


 
Travel, including travel permitted in Rule 5-3.2(a)(2) and 5-3.2(a)(3), shall 
not be authorized for any Director who has not properly filed expense 
reports in compliance with Rule 5-3.3, or for any Director who has not 
reimbursed the District for previous expenses within 30 days of notice 
from the Controller-Treasurer. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         July 24, 1997 


 
Receipts for expenses should be turned in to the Controller-Treasurer’s 
office. 


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         December 17, 1998 
 


(c) Limitation on Certain Expenses 
 


Certain personal expenses are subject to limitations as follows: 
 
Guests:  Directors shall not charge the District for guests they invite to 
District-sponsored dinners. 
 
Personnel assistance normally shall be limited to use of a public 
stenographer or equivalent, and is authorized only when a Director is in 
travel status.  Postal charges are authorized only using District mailing 
facilities. Office space charges of any kind are not authorized. 


 
(d) Cash Advances 


 
An advance for travel expenses of a Director for authorized travel may be 
authorized by the President or Vice President, or in their absence the 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-8 


General Manager or a designated representative. Cash advances shall be 
limited to the per-diem allowance with a maximum amount of $500.  No 
Director shall authorize advance payments to him or herself.  Lodging 
costs will be paid by check directly to the hotel by the District when a 
Director requests advance payment of such expense. 


 
(e) Room Service 
 


Reimbursement for food and drink obtained by room service will not be 
allowed if the per-diem allowance is taken.  If no per-diem allowance is 
taken, reimbursement for room service for food and drink is limited to $35 
per day. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         February 11, 1993 


 
5-3.3 Expense Reports 
 


(a) Directors shall submit monthly expense reports to the Board through the 
Controller-Treasurer during the two months following the month in which 
the expenses are incurred. The Controller-Treasurer shall make a written 
report to the Board of any expense reports not filed within the two-month 
period. Expense reports shall include full itemization for all expenses. 
Such itemization shall include, either on the report or on the supporting 
document, the date incurred, a description of the expense, the purpose 
and the amount, including appropriate receipts.  Vouchers or receipts 
satisfactorily supporting requests for reimbursement shall be furnished to 
the Controller-Treasurer for all items of expense for which such receipts 
are normally furnished. 


 
(b) The monthly expense report shall include the actual cost of all travel and 


personal expenses of any kind received by a Director which are paid for 
by the District regardless of whose expense account (Director or 
employee) the items are billed to. 


 
        Revised and Adopted 
        July 30, 2009 


 
(c) Registration fees 
 
 Any registration or similar fee paid by the District for conferences or other 


programs attended by a Director shall be included in the Director's 
monthly expense report. 


 
(d) Directors' expense reports are subject to review by any Director, and may 


be referred by any Director, or the Controller-Treasurer, to the 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-9 


Administration Committee for review and recommendation and to the 
Board for approval. Directors' expense reports not referred to the 
Administration Committee and the Board may be approved by the 
President or in his absence the Vice President. or in the absence of both 
the President and the Vice President, the Chair of the Administration 
Committee the immediate past President. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         July 30, 2009 
 


(e) The Controller-Treasurer shall insure that all expense reports are 
reviewed for conformance to these rules.  Upon such determination, a 
copy of the report with said determination noted thereon shall be delivered 
or mailed with the reimbursement.  The general audit of the District shall 
include an audit of the Directors’ expense reports for the previous fiscal 
year for compliance with the Board Rules.  Board member expense 
reports are available through the Office of the District Secretary. 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         May 11, 2000 
 
5-3.4 District Automobile Use 


 
Use of a District automobile without prior approval by the Board of Directors will 
be limited to one day every three weeks in the conduct of District business.  The 
Director will be required to file an automobile usage report along with his/her 
monthly expense report.  The usage report will specify the nature and purpose of 
the District meeting or business, the place, and the parties who attend.  Failure to 
file such automobile usage report will result in the loss of the privilege until such 
reports are brought current. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         February 11, 1993 
 
5-3.5 Use of District Property Other than Automobiles 


 
(a) In addition to the use of District automobiles as authorized in Board Rule 


5-3.4, each Director may have use and possession of the following 
property for District-related business, to the extent that such property is 
comparable in cost and function to property generally available to District 
employees: 


 
(1) Facsimile machine 
(2) Pager Mobile device (i.e. tablets, portable wifi, hotspots, etc.) 


(3) Cellular Phone 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-10 


(4) Personal Computer, Laptop including use of the District's e-mail 
system 


(5) Printer 
(6) Electronic organizer  
(7) Telephone calling card 


All District property shall be returned to the District when a Director leaves 
office. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         October 23, 1997 


 
(b) Directors shall request all District property through the District Secretary's 


Office. 
 
(c) The District Secretary's Office shall make quarterly requests to the 


Directors for review of cellular phone and mobile device operating calling 
card costs and reimbursement to the District for all such costs that are not 
for District-related business.  Directors shall reimburse the District within 
30 days of the District Secretary's quarterly requests. If such requests are 
not responded to or reimbursements are not made within 30 days, the 
District Secretary shall report to the President or Vice President in 
accordance with Board Rule 5-3.6. 


 
(d) Not later than September 15 of each year, the Internal Audit Department 


shall complete an annual audit for the previous fiscal year for compliance 
with the requirements of this Board Rule 5-3.5, and such audit report shall 
be submitted to the next Administration Committee following September 
15 for review and forwarding to the full Board.  The audit report shall 
include a list of District property that is issued to each Director. 


 
        New Rule, Adopted 


         June 13, 1996 
 
5-3.6 Violations of Use of District Property Rules 


 
Any person may report an alleged violation of the District use restrictions or 
reporting or reimbursement requirements on District property, including but not 
limited to automobiles as set forth in Board rule 5-3.4, to the President, except if 
the alleged violation involves the President.  The President shall take appropriate 
action within thirty (30) days of notification. A written report of the alleged 
violation and action taken, if any, shall be distributed to each Board member.  If 
no Board member requests a public review within seven (7) days, the action of 
the President shall become final.  If an alleged violation involves the President, it 
may be reported to the Vice President, who shall take the above actions. 
 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-11 


5-3.7 Expenses for Which Reimbursement Is Prohibited 
 
The District shall not reimburse any Director, employee, or officer for any 
expense incurred with any private club which discriminates on the basis of race, 
gender, religion, sexual orientation, or other invidious criteria in its membership 
policy. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         June 13, 1996 
 


Expenses incurred for the purpose of attending political events shall not be 
reimbursed. An event shall be considered "political" if it is held for the purpose of 
supporting or opposing, or raising money to support or oppose, any candidate, 
ballot measure or political party. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         July 13, 1989 
 
 
SECTION 4. CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION STATEMENTS 
 AND STATEMENTS OF ECONOMIC INTERESTS 
 
5-4.1 Filing and Publication of Required Statements 


 
Pursuant to the Political Reform Act of 1974, Campaign Contribution Statements 
and Statements of Economic Interests are required to be filed by Directors.  At 
the times required by law, Directors shall file their original Statements of 
Economic Interests and copies of their Campaign Contribution Statements, 
concurrent with filing with Registrar of Voters, with the District Secretary. The 
information in both types of  Statements of Economic Interests will be published 
on the District's web site, when the web site is available, and on the Internet 
within fourteen (14) days of receipt by the District Secretary.  The information in 
Campaign Contribution Statements may be accessed by the public via a link 
(provided by the District Secretary) to the respective County’s Registrar of Voters 
web site. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         June 13, 1996 


 


 


 


 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-12 


SECTION 5. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION LIMITATION 


5-5.1 Contractor/Subcontractor Contributions 
 
In regard to any contract, or agreement requiring authorization of the Board, no 
prospective contractor party seeking to do business with the District (hereafter 
“contractor”) or the contractor's proposed first tier subcontractors and 
subsuppliers whose subcontracts exceed $100,000 (hereinafter referred to as 
"subcontractors"), shall provide to any Director, or any candidate for Director, and 
no Director, or a candidate for Director, shall accept or solicit any monetary or in-
kind contribution valued at greater than $1,000 (including loans) from any 
contractor or its subcontractors during the time periods from the receipt of that 
prospective contractor’s bid for all contracts and agreements, through award, and 
shall continue to apply for three months following award in regard to the 
contractor awarded the contract or agreement and its subcontractors. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
        December 20, 2007 
 
This rule applies only to contributions made to a candidate for the BART Board of 
Directors or to the candidate’s committee in support of that candidate’s election 
campaign and has no application to contributions to other campaigns including 
but not limited to ballot measures. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         August 12, 2004 
 


This Rule shall apply to a candidate from the date of filing of his or her declaration 
of candidacy with the Registrar of Voters. 
 


 
Any Director who wishes to voluntarily continue to abide by the Rule in place 
immediately prior to December 20, 2007, shall demonstrate his or her 
commitment by advising the District Secretary in writing.  Such commitments 
shall remain in place until the Director indicates otherwise in writing to the District 
Secretary. 


 
         New Rule, Adopted 
         December 20, 2007 
 
5-5.2 Contractor/Subcontractor Certification of Compliance 


Contract and agreement documents shall require prospective contractors, and 
their subcontractors, to submit a certification of compliance with this Rule with 
their bid or proposal, or as otherwise directed in contract and agreement 
documents.  Failure to submit a certification within five calendar days after it is 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-13 


due may render the bid or proposal non-responsive. 
 


         Revised and Adopted 
         November 20, 1997 
 
5-5.3 Contractor/Subcontractor Information Submitted to Board 


The General Manager shall provide the following information to the Board: 
 


(a) For those subject to this Rule, the names of all prospective contractors 
and contractors submitting bids and proposals for contract award, and 
their subcontractors, on the date bids or proposals are opened by the 
District. 
 


(b) The names of prospective contractors and contractors and subcontractors 
and the dates when this Rule no longer applies to them. 
 
       Revised and Adopted 
       December 20, 2007 


 
5-5.4 Definitions 
 


For purposes of this Board Rule: 
 
(a) "Agreement" is defined as an agreement for services, leases, and 


licenses. 
 
(b) "Candidate" is defined as a person who has filed a declaration of 


candidacy with the Registrar of Voters for the office of Director of the San 
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District. 


 
(c) "Contract" is defined as a contract for construction of facilities and works, 


or for the purchase of supplies, equipment, and materials. 
 
(d) "Contractor" is defined as an individual, proprietorship, firm, partnership, 


joint venture, syndicate, business trust, company, corporation, limited 
liability company, association, committee, and any other organization or 
group of persons acting in concert and their agents. 


 


(e) “Prospective Contractor” shall mean any contractor seeking to do 
business with the District. 


 


(f) "Contribution" is as defined in Government Code Section 82015 and 
implementing regulations adopted by the Fair Political Practices 
Commission. 







Board Rules CHAPTER V 


 V-14 


 
         Revised and Adopted 
         November 20, 1997 


 
(g) "Director" is defined as a current member of the Board of Directors of the 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District. 
 


         New Rule, Adopted 
         August 8, 1996 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 
_____________________ 
Note: Board Rule 5-5.4 revised to delete two provisions and renumber the section 
accordingly.  Adopted December 20, 2007 
 







 


VI-1 
 


CHAPTER VI 


AMENDMENTS AND SUSPENSION 


6-1.1 Amendments 
 
Any provision of the rules may be amended by a majority vote of all members of 
the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting when at least ten (10) 
days' written notice has previously been given to all members of the Board of 
Directors that amendments will be proposed, or if oral or written notice was given 
at a previous meeting of the Board. 


 
6-1.2 Suspension 


 
A rule may be suspended by a majority vote of all members of the Board of 
Directors upon a showing satisfactory to them of a special or emergency 
situation justifying the suspension of the rule. 


 
 
 







 


VII-1 
 


CHAPTER VII 


INTERPRETATIONS 


7-1.1 Interpretations 
 
These rules are designed solely to facilitate the handling by the Board of 
Directors of its own affairs, and the Board of Directors retains the sole right to 
interpret these rules.  No action taken by this Board shall be deemed invalid 
because of any conflict with these rules, and any action taken by the Board 
shall be deemed to suspend any rule conflicting with the action taken. 







 


VII-1 
 


 







DRAFT 5/7/15 


 


Board of Directors Code of Conduct 
 
 


The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART) is a Special District created by the 
State of California.  The Board of Directors is the legislative body of the District representing 
Alameda County, Contra Costa County, and the City and County of San Francisco.  The Board 
of Directors determines all matters of District policy.  The Board also provides counsel and 
direction to management without exerting individual power or authority over BART.  Board 
action requires either a majority or two-thirds vote of the Board, depending on the action under 
consideration.  The Board of Directors Code of Conduct guides the Board in exercising its duties 
responsibly. 


 
I. Board members shall treat the public, staff members and each other with respect and 


courtesy. 
 


II. Board members shall refrain from conduct that they know or reasonably should know is 
likely to create in the minds of reasonable observers the perception that the Board member 
used his or her public position improperly. They shall not commit any act which may 
bring reproach or discredit upon the District. 


 
III. The Political Reform Act (Government Code Sections 81000-91014) requires Board 


members to publicly disclose their financial interests by filing a disclosure form (Form 
700) with the District.  Additionally, the Political Reform Act provides that Board 
members shall not make, participate in, or use their position to influence a governmental 
decision in which they know or have reason to know that they have a financial interest. 


 
IV. California Government Code Section 1090 prohibits Board members from being 


financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity.  This 
prohibition applies to all contracts regardless of funding source.  The financial interest of 
an individual Board member in a District contract may prevent the entire Board from 
authorizing the award, execution, or amendment of the contract. 


 
V.  Board members shall not make, participate in, or use their position to influence any 


governmental decision relating to any person or entity with whom the Board member is 
negotiating, or has any arrangement concerning prospective employment. 1 Board 
members shall not use their position to influence any District decision regarding 
prospective employment with the District.  Directors shall not seek District 
employment while in office. 


 
VI.  Board members shall not participate in the selection, award, or administration of 


contracts supported by federal funds where the Board member has a real or apparent 
conflict of interest as defined by FTA Third-Party Contracting Guidance.2  Such a conflict 
would arise when any of the following parties has a financial or other interest in an entity 
selected for award of a contract supported by federal funds: the Board member, or any 
immediate family member, partner, employer, or organization  that intends to employ the 
Board member. 


 
 


1 Cal. Gov. Code 87407 
2 FTA Circular 4220.1F 







VII. Board members shall not participate in the making of a decision to hire, appoint, employ, 
promote, or terminate the employment of a person who is a relative of the Board member. 
Board members shall not take any action that has the potential to affect the employment 
status at the District of a person who is a relative of the Board member, including 
attempting to persuade a District officer or employee to make a decision or take an action 
affecting a relative of the Board member. 


 
For the purposes of this Code, the term "relative" means the following:  husband, wife, 
domestic partner, father, mother, grandfather, grandmother, son, daughter, stepson, 
stepdaughter, granddaughter, grandson, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, father- 
in-law, mother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, sister-in-law, and brother-in-law. 


 
 
VIII. Board members shall not publicly engage in personal attacks on BART employees or 


members of the public, or attempt to discipline or disparage any employee in any manner. 
They shall not involve themselves in altercations or any other act of hostility with others, 
nor will they engage in acts which will subject the District to criticism or adversely affect 
the interests of the District. Any concerns regarding an employee's performance shall be 
communicated to the General Manager or other Board Appointed Officer with 
supervisory responsibility for the employee.  The foregoing shall not preclude Board 
members from making comments which are critical of District policies, practices, 
operations or performance in the discharge of their official duties. 


 
IX. Board members shall not solicit or accept gifts of any value from persons or entities with 


which the District contracts or may contract.  Gifts or favors received by or promised to 
an individual Board member may prevent the entire Board from authorizing the award or 
execution of a contract.3 


 
X.  Before the staff recommendation for an award of a contract is made public, Board 


members shall not communicate regarding the procurement with any District employee 
except the General Manager or his or her designee. The General Manager shall keep a log 
of those communications and shall report those communications and responses in writing 
at the Board meeting where action on the procurement is scheduled.4 


 
XI. Board members shall comply with the terms of Section IX of the District's Contractor 


Code of Conduct related to communications with outside parties during pendency of a 
bid or proposal. 


 
XII. Candidates for the Board shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit political contributions 


from officers or employees of the District.5 
 


XIII. Board members shall not use or disclose, other than in the performance of their official 
duties and responsibilities (or as may be required by law), confidential District 


 
 


3 Cal. Gov. Code 1090 
4  Adapted from the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation  Authority Board of 
Directors Code of 
Conduct, Section 130680(e) 


5 Cal. Gov. Code 3205 
2 







- 
information gained in the course of or by reason of their position, nor shall any Board 
member permit such use or disclosure.6 Board members shall not disclose confidential 
information that has been acquired by being present in a closed session  to a person not 
entitled to receive it, unless the Board has authorized disclosure of that confidential 
information.  However, it shall not be a violation of this Code for a Board member to 
make a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury regarding the 
illegality or potential illegality of an action that has been the subject of deliberation at a 
closed session, to express an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken 
in closed session, or to disclose information acquired during a closed session that is not 
confidential information.7 


 
XIV.  A former Board member is prohibited from representing any other person by appearing 


before the District's  Board or communicating  with any District Director, officer or 
employee in an attempt to influence a District decision for a period of one year after the 
Board member leaves office. 


 
XV.  Board members shall not use or permit the use of District resources, including but not 


limited to facilities, materials, equipment, information, intellectual property such as 
trademarks and copyrighted material, and District staff time, for activities other than 
District business. This Code of Conduct incorporates the prohibitions of California law 
concerning use of public agency resources for campaign activity.8 


 
XVI.  Sanctions imposed for violations of this Code of Conduct may include, but are not 


limited  to, any of the following: 
 


A.  Public censure  by the Board at a regularly scheduled  meeting; 
B.  Disqualification from participating  in any discussion  or vote on any matter related 


to the violation; and/or 
C.  Removal of the Board member from one or more committees.9 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


6 Cal. Gov. Code 1098 makes use of confidential info for pecuniary gain a misdemeanor, but this is broader 
7 Cal. Gov Code 54963 
8 Cal. Gov. Code 83 14 and others. 
9 Adapted from the Los Angeles County Metropolitan  Transportation Authority Board of Directors Code of 
Conduct, Section 130620(c)(1-6) 


3 







